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Chairman’s Review 2019
Dear Shareholder
The past year has been one of steady achievement
by your Company as we advance towards our goal
of becoming a producer of valuable silica and
mineral sands.
While the COVID-19 pandemic currently has the world
in its grip, thanks to recent efforts by the Board and
management Diatreme is better placed than many to
ride out the storm.
I am confident that when we do reach the other side of
the pandemic and the world starts to recover, we will
be in a strong position to deliver increased shareholder
value on the back of progress at our key projects, the
Galalar Silica Project and Cyclone Zircon Project.
Galalar: Silica – a “ new economy mineral”
The Galalar project in North Queensland has rapidly
advanced over the past year and offers the quickest
pathway to cash-flow generation for the Company, as
highlighted by a number of studies.

With demand increasing in
China and the rest of Asia
for solar panels, projects
like Galalar which can
supply the right product
w ill have no shortage
of interest.

In January 2019, bulk
testing results in China
confirmed the project’s
ability to produce a
premium-grade product
suitable for high-tech
applications, including
the manufacture of
photovoltaic (solar) panels
and other products,
thereby attracting
premium prices.

Subsequently, the project
was further boosted
with the expansion of its
Inferred Mineral Resource
estimate and the identification of regional exploration
targets, highlighting its location in a world-class silica
exploration province.
In May, Diatreme announced a Maiden Indicated
Resource, with a total resource (Indicated and Inferred)
comprising some 30.2 million tonnes > 99% silicon
dioxide. Yet again, this showed Galalar’s potential to
become a source of valuable, premium quality silica for
fast-growing Asian markets, including solar panels.
The extent of overseas interest in the project was
demonstrated with the signing of two offtake MOU’s,
both with Chinese entities.
The first with privately owned Fengsha Group was for
the potential supply of 500,000 tonnes per annum
(tpa) of photovoltaic grade silica sand, with the
potential to supply an additional 250,000 tpa pending
further testing.
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Similarly, the second MOU, with another privately
owned company, Wan Zhong Investment Group, was
for the potential supply of up to 500,000 tpa.
Both of these agreements may be scaled to reflect
targeted production. While non-binding, the
agreements have set a framework for further cooperation and Diatreme looks forward to progressing
these further.
The Chinese market consumes around a third of the
world’s industrial silica. With demand increasing in
China and the rest of Asia for solar panels, projects like
Galalar which can supply the right product will have no
shortage of interest.
Galalar’s strong fundamentals were further evidenced
by a scoping study released in September 2019, which
showed it could become a highly profitable operation.
The study estimated a pre-tax nominal net present
value (NPV) of $231 million, a standout internal rate of
return of 150 per cent and estimated capital payback
within eight months.
These are outstanding numbers by any measure and
they could be improved further, depending on the
logistics solution adopted for the project and the
product generated.
For example, bench-scale metallurgical testwork
conducted in China has shown the Galalar silica sand
product could be even further upgraded to “ultra-low
iron” (sub 50 parts per million Fe2O3) suitable for ultrathin electronics, computer and mobile phone screens,
or what is called “photothermal grade” silica. The value
of this specialty product is significantly higher than the
“low iron” product.

Having demonstrated Galalar’s excellent potential,
2019 was rounded off with the pre-Christmas
lodgement of a Mining Lease Application,
encompassing an area of 523 hectares, including all of
the identified Mineral Resource.
Post-balance date, in February 2020, Diatreme lodged
an application to undertake a voluntary Environmental
Impact Statement (EIS) for Galalar, a move that is
expected to expedite the approval process.
The recent 26 per cent upgrade of the project’s total
resource, together with an economic study highlighting
Galalar’s benefits for the local community, have only
further added to our confidence in the project. It
has enormous potential to generate valuable jobs
and investment for the community and wealth for
shareholders, including our partners, traditional
owners Hopevale Congress.
Cyclone: Zircon in demand
Constrained supply and rising demand have boosted
the fortunes of zircon and zircon-rich projects such as
Cyclone will benefit.
Having advanced Cyclone to ‘shovel-ready’ status
ready for development, the Company has focussed
on finding potential project partners and investors. To
date a number of parties have entered the data room.
We remain confident of finding the right partner for
Cyclone’s development, as highlighted by the signing
in August 2019 of two agreements with potential
Chinese partners.
The first, a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), was
signed with Hunan Rare Earth Industry Group (HRE) for
potential life of mine offtake of heavy mineral concentrate
(HMC) and potential investment into Cyclone.
The second was an Expression of Interest from MCC
International, part of the major China Minmetals Group,
for the provision of engineering, procurement and
construction services, in addition to sourcing suitable
Chinese project finance.
The next step for Cyclone is advancing such
discussions towards binding agreements and
assembling a final commercial mix of parties to ensure
the best possible outcome, not only for the project but
for our shareholders.
Cyclone’s value was further enhanced with HRE’s
discovery of the strategic rare metal hafnium within
the zircon component of Cyclone’s HMC. Hafnium has
become a scarce commodity, with prices exceeding
US$1,500 per kilogram, and its addition has made the
project even more attractive.
While the outbreak of COVID-19 has cooled investor
appetite for new projects, Cyclone is poised for
development and with the right partner has enormous
potential to deliver value for shareholders.

2

Investor support
Investor support is crucial, particularly in current
volatile financial markets and I would like to thank all
our shareholders, both longstanding and recent, for
supporting our Company.
Notably in this regard, in November we welcomed
onto our share registry as a cornerstone investor
Ilwella Pty Ltd representing the interests of the
Flannery family office, who participated in a $3.6
million placement undertaken to new and existing
sophisticated investors.
Fortunately thanks to the support of all our
shareholders, Diatreme is well placed to advance our
projects in 2020 and deliver results for shareholders.
Positive outlook
Although COVID-19 has clouded the immediate
outlook, Diatreme’s prospects remain extremely bright
once the gloom has lifted from the global economy.
Our Cyclone project is set for development and with
the gradual resumption of normal business in China,
we would expect potential project partners to revisit
their expansion plans given Asia’s continued need for
zircon to drive construction and other sectors.
Meanwhile, the Galalar project has a number of
milestones ahead, including the lodgement of an EIS,
the securing of binding offtake agreements and the
finalisation of a bankable feasibility study, together
with plant design, engineering and mining planning.
All of these milestones, including an agreement
concerning Cyclone, have the potential to deliver a rerating of our stock by investors.
While timelines may be stretched somewhat due to the
coronavirus, Galalar could be in production within a
couple of years, generating valuable cash flow for the
Company. That would certainly be worth celebrating
after the travails of 2020.
Once again, I would like to thank shareholders,
employees, contractors, suppliers, partners and all
others associated with our Company for your support.
Much lies ahead for Diatreme and with all our
combined efforts I am very confident of a bright future.
Yours sincerely

Gregory Starr
Chairman
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COMPANY OVERVIEW

Diatreme Resources Limited (ASX code:
DRX) is an emerging Australian producer
of mineral and silica sands based in
Brisbane, Queensland.

Diatreme has an experienced Board and management,
with expertise across all stages of project exploration,
development and financing, with a vast network of
contacts across China and Asia.

Our key projects comprise the Galalar Silica Project in
North Queensland, located next to the world’s biggest
silica sand mine, together with the Cyclone Zircon
Project in Western Australia’s Eucla Basin, considered
one of a handful of major zircon-rich discoveries of the
past decade.

Importantly for shareholders, we have a clear focus
on maximising shareholder value by only pursuing
those projects considered capable of generating a
near-term return on investment, while minimising
corporate overheads.
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2019 HIGHLIGHTS

 
     


   

 
 






  


  







  



 



  
  

  

   


    
 




 

 
 
  
 





  
  
  





 
 

Galalar product
enhanced
Galalar Silica Project confirmed capable of
producing ultra-high grade product, capable of
attracting premium prices

 



Project upgraded

Scoping study shows
Galalar’s profitability

Maiden Indicated Resource estimated for Galalar
project, with total resource comprising 30.2 million
tonnes > 99% silicon dioxide, showing potential to
become long‑term supplier of quality silica

Estimated pre-tax NPV of $231 million, IRR of 150%
and capital payback within eight months point to
project profitability

Cyclone advances

New investors

MOUs signed with leading international Chinese
groups for offtake and EPC services for Cyclone Zircon
Project; discovery of strategic rare metal, hafnium
further enhances value

New cornerstone investor, Ilwella Pty Ltd,
representing interests of Flannery Family Office,
supports successful capital raising
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Operations Report
INTRODUCTION
During 2019, Diatreme Resources Limited (“Diatreme”) continued its focus on advancing development
activities for the Galalar Silica Project and consolidating the Cyclone Project’s development potential.
Concerning the Galalar project, the past year saw a number of advances which have highlighted the North
Queensland project’s potential to become a leading supplier of premium quality silica to Asian markets.
In January 2019, bulk testing results in China confirmed the project’s ability to produce a premium-grade
product suitable for high-tech applications, including the manufacture of photovoltaic (solar) panels and
other products, thereby attracting premium prices.
Subsequently, the project was further boosted with the expansion of its Inferred Mineral Resource estimate
and the identification of regional exploration targets, highlighting its location in a world-class silica
exploration province.
In May, Diatreme announced a Maiden Indicated Resource, with a total resource (Indicated and Inferred)
comprising some 30.2 million tonnes > 99% silicon dioxide. Yet again, this showed Galalar’s potential to
become a source of valuable, premium quality silica for fast-growing Asian markets, including solar panels.
The extent of overseas interest in the project was demonstrated with the signing of two offtake MOU’s, both
with Chinese entities.
The first with privately owned Fengsha Group was for the potential supply of 500,000 tonnes per annum
(tpa) of photovoltaic grade silica sand, with the potential to supply an additional 250,000 tpa pending further
testing.
Similarly, the second MOU, with another privately owned company, Wan Zhong Investment Group, was for
the potential supply of up to 500,000 tpa.
While non-binding, the agreements have set a framework for further co-operation and Diatreme looks
forward to progressing these further.
Galalar’s strong fundamentals were further evidenced by a scoping study released in September 2019,
which showed it could become a highly profitable operation. The study estimated a pre-tax nominal net
present value (NPV) of $231 million, a standout internal rate of return of 150 per cent and estimated capital
payback within eight months.
In December 2019, Diatreme lodged a Mining Lease Application for Galalar encompassing an area of 523
hectares, including all of the identified Mineral Resource.
The past year also saw further advances at Diatreme’s Cyclone Zircon Project in Western Australia.
Having advanced Cyclone to ‘shovel-ready’ status ready for development, in January 2019 the Company
appointed independent corporate advisers, Blackbird Partners to find potential project partners and
investors.
Blackbird are managing a formal process of assembling strategic, third party interest in Cyclone’s funding
and development and there has been strong interest with a number of parties having entered the data room.
In August 2019, the signing of two agreements with potential Chinese partners highlighted the strong
international interest in the project.
The first, a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU), was signed with Hunan Rare Earth Industry Group
(HRE) for potential life of mine offtake of heavy mineral concentrate (HMC) and potential investment into
Cyclone.
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The second was an Expression of Interest from MCC International, part of the major China Minmetals
Group, for the provision of engineering, procurement and construction services, in addition to sourcing
suitable Chinese project finance.
Cyclone’s value was further enhanced with HRE’s discovery of the strategic rare metal hafnium within the
zircon component of Cyclone’s HMC. Hafnium has become a scarce commodity, with prices exceeding
US$1,500 per kilogram, and its addition has made the project even more attractive.
GALALAR SILICA SANDS PROJECT (North Queensland)
The Galalar Silica Project (Cape Bedford EPM17795) covers a large quaternary sand dune field, part of
which is currently being mined by Mitsubishi Corporation subsidiary, Cape Flattery Silica Mines Pty Ltd and
is the world’s largest silica sand mining operation.
Another attractive point of the project is its close proximity to the world’s largest silica markets in China,
Japan, South Korea and Taiwan. Galalar has the potential to supply high-grade silica products for use in
glass manufacture, foundry casting, electronics, ceramics and construction. These industries are in demand
and growing in developing Asia, with the market expected to expand at a compound annual growth rate of
7.2% through to 2022, reaching revenues of US$9.6 billion (source: IMARC Group).
Bulk testing
Early in 2019 the Company announced results from a bulk raw product testing program which was carried
out at an industry-recognised silica testing facility in China. The testing analysed 350 kilograms of untreated
raw samples extracted from 19 drill holes across the project area. The results confirmed Galalar could
produce a high-purity silica sand with grain sizes within 125-600 microns and an iron content of less than
100 parts per million, making it suitable for the exacting specifications of high-end processing.
Low-iron level silica is currently in high demand by glass manufacturers as it provides the transparency
required for products such as high-efficiency photovoltaic (solar) panels, ultra-clear glass, and electrical and
electronic-grade silicon micro powder. There are also limited producers of significant volumes worldwide,
which potentially can lead to the product attracting premium prices.
Maiden Indicated Resource
Following the maiden Inferred Mineral Resource announcement in August 2018, the Company announced
in May 2019 a maiden Indicated Resource for the project. Based on an independent assessment by
consultants Ausrocks Pty Ltd and with the addition of a new satellite deposit identified at West Nob Point,
the project’s Maiden Indicated Resource has now been established at 21.5Mt > 99% SiO2 with a balance of
8.7Mt in Inferred Resource giving it a significantly upgraded total of 30.2Mt > 99% Si02 (Indicated and
Inferred) resource.
This resource upgrade and the addition of a newly identified satellite deposit further highlights the project’s
potential to become a valuable source of premium-quality silica for high end glass- manufacturing in Asia.
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Figure 1: Galalar Silica Project – Resource Boundaries

East Nob Point Dune

Table 1: Galalar Silica Project Resource Update

Classification Area
East Nob Point
Inferred
West Nob Point
Total
East Nob Point
Indicated
West Nob Point
Total

Silica
Sand
(Mt)
6.6
2.1
8.7
20.2
1.3
21.5

*Note –Resource estimate current as at 9 May 2019

SiO2
Grade
99.26
99.16
99.25
99.26
99.16
99.25

Cut-off
SiO2 %
99.00
99.00
99.00
99.00

AL2O3 % Fe2O3%
0.12
0.11
0.11
0.12
0.11
0.11

0.09
0.16
0.09
0.09
0.16
0.09

LOI%
0.11
0.04
0.11
0.11
0.04
0.11

TiO2%
0.10
0.15
0.10
0.10
0.15
0.10

Targeted Regional Exploration EPM 17795
Diatreme completed a desktop program to identify appropriate sand dune systems meeting the criteria to
establish and prioritise targets for field investigations. Diatreme identified six parameters to focus and
prioritise silica sand target areas:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Geology – Well developed dune systems;
Sand Quality - Identification of >99% SiO2 sand;
Size – Exploration target in excess of 20 million tonnes;
Access – Close to existing road infrastructure;
Environmental – not overlapping identified environmentally significant areas;
Cultural – ensuring any potential disturbance is compliant with traditional owners’ values.
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Figure 2: Regional Targets
In March 2019 a regional helicopter-based sampling program was completed to fulfil the aims of the
planned exploration program:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Ground truth target areas;
Collect representative samples of sand for quality analysis;
Assess access to target areas;
Reconcile historic exploration, namely sample location, quality data and analysis.

The results confirmed the existence of high purity silica sand in most target areas, confirming the targetted
areas have favourable SiO2 percentages for further exploration. In addition, elevated TiO2 within the
Gubbins Range sand dune system was identified along with high purity silica sand
In all, four high priority targets were generated, comprising Elim Road North, Elim Road South, Casuarina
Hill and Gubbins Range.
Priority Target – Elim Road North and South
These are long established stationary dune system(s) interpreted to have well developed podzolic profiles
containing high purity silica sands.
They are the north-west extension of the Galalar resource area and could potentially contain significant
volumes of silica sand. Preliminary ground-based traverses and shallow auger testing sampling indicated
high purity silica sand and need to be completed to confirm quality before access tracks can be installed.
These target areas have access to public road and infrastructure.
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Priority Target – Casuarina Hill
Located adjacent to the Cape Flattery Silica Mine operations, this is the southern extension of the dune
system currently being mined.
Preliminary sampling and historic drilling indicate the high purity silica sand is continuous. The target is a
priority as it is near the existing port infrastructure at Cape Flattery.
Priority Target – Gubbins Range HMS
Sampling highlighted elevated TiO2 within the dune system immediately east of the Gubbins Range.
The Gubbins Range dune system consists predominantly of longitudinal sand dunes, all of which are
approximately 6,000m in length and vary in height and size. TiO2 percentages ranged from 0.32 to 1.17%
and averaged 0.8%. This confirms historic sampling conducted in the dune system in 1981 by T. Essington
Breen (CR 10137).
Elim Road South Shallow Auger Drilling
In October, nine auger holes were completed to extend the current resources at Galalar northward along
the dune system. Holes were augered on a 400m x 100m spacing and to a nominal 5m depth.
Sand augering was completed using DRX’s 50mm shell auger (see figure 3) and following DRX’s
procedures, appropriate, QA/QC controls were developed to ensure auger drilling and sampling would
provide data suitable for resource estimation.
Results confirmed the continuation of the Galalar resource area to the north. Future air-core drilling will test
the full sand dune thickness and increase the resource area.
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Figure 3: Elim Road South Auger Holes
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Figure 4: Auger Sampling

Tenement Schedule
In 2019 Diatreme applied for three additional EPMs to augment the Cape Bedford project area. These
tenements primarily cover extensions to the known sand dune system as well as areas around the resource
and infrastructure areas to secure underlying title.
Permit

Name

EPM 17795
EPM 27265
EPM 27212
EPM 27430

Cape Bedford
Gubbins
Cape Flattery
Mclvor

Lodge
date
20-Feb-19
2-Dec-19

Grant date

Expiry date

22-Jun-16
30-Jan-20

21-Jun-21
29-Jan-25
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Scoping Study
Another significant milestone was achieved in September 2019 by the Company when it announced the
results of a Scoping Study. Key outcomes comprised:
Ø
Ø
Ø
Ø

Pre-tax nominal NPV of $231 million
IRR (internal rate of return) of 150%
Estimated capital payback within 8 months; start-up capital of $24.4 million
15-year mine life, producing 750,000 tonnes per annum based on a 79% recovery rate.

In addition, Diatreme identified potential improvements that offer further enhancements to project
economics, including developing a purpose-built barge ramp closer to the mine site (approximately 4km
away from the proposed ML area) at a location called Nob Point (subject to various Queensland
Government approvals), which could offer an estimated further $20-25 per tonne in cost savings on Scoping
Study operating costs.
The potential new mine is to be developed in partnership with the traditional owners, Hopevale Congress
(12.5% project interest), and has the potential to generate high-value jobs for the local community, with a
focus on maximising local employment and supplier opportunities. Estimated employment is around 30 to
40 jobs in the construction phase and around 60 (employees and contractors) in the production phase.
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU)
In September 2019, a MOU for product offtake was signed with China-based private company Wan Zhong
Investment Group. The agreement is for the potential supply of up to 500,000 tonnes per annum of
photovoltaic grade silica sand (sub 100ppm Fe2O3). This followed the signing of an MOU in July 2019 with
China’s Fengsha Group for the potential supply of up to 500,000 tonnes per annum of photovoltaic grade
silica sand.
Both agreements may be scaled appropriately to reflect targeted production outputs. Final product pricing
mechanisms will be agreed between the parties prior to signing any binding agreement.
While non-binding at this stage, the MOU’s set a framework for further co-operation, leading potentially to
binding arrangements between the parties subject to final negotiations and the project’s advancement
through the next development steps. The MOU terms are for 12 months, with the potential for mutually
agreed extensions.
Metallurgical testwork
During the year the Company embarked on a bench-scale metallurgical testwork to determine the potential
for the production of a higher grade, higher-value product through the use of a proprietary environmentally
friendly, organic hot acid leach process. Due to the high purity of the silica, it is suitable for ultra-thin
electronics such as computer and mobile phone screens.
Diatreme engaged Chinese company Qinfeng Mining (QMCL) to complete the processing test work and
pickling process on the project’s samples. Based in Jiangxi Province, QMCL is well connected with silica
suppliers and specialist glass producers and has designed and installed silica product upgrade plans in a
number of major glass manufacturing plants in China.
Following a review of the drill sample database, QMCL requested four samples of two kilograms each from
three drill holes at varying depths within Galalar's mineral resource area. The samples were selected from
different zones of the resource that have a suitable chemical analysis for upgrading using the pickling
process. The four silica sand samples were then analysed by an independent laboratory in Townsville.
The Company subsequently announced in November 2019 the results of this testwork comprising up to
99.89 per cent silicon dioxide, 0.04 per cent iron (III) oxide, 0.07 per cent titanium dioxide, and 0.16 per cent
aluminium oxide.
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The results further cemented Galalar's ability to supply premium products to Asia's fast-growing solar panel
market and other speciality glass applications, amid rising demand for such products and China's need for
secure and reliable suppliers. Following the successful indications from this small-scale testing the
Company has been able to gain an understanding with the technology provider and determine what
percentage within Galalar is suitable for further product upgrading.
Mining Lease Application
In December 2019, the Company lodged a Mining Lease Application (MLA) for Galalar with the Queensland
Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy (DNRME), encompassing an area of 523 ha, including
all of the identified Mineral Resource (refer Table 1 above).
The Mining Lease has been marked out with a surface area of 523 ha, comprising 501.7ha of freehold land
owned by Hopevale Congress Aboriginal Corporation RNTBC and 21.3ha of road reserve. The proposed
disturbance for the life of the mine however is limited to approximately 57% of the lease surface area
(299ha).
The remainder of the area includes the following:
•
•
•

Approximately 163ha for environmental buffers to high and medium ecological values, watercourses
and other environmental zones;
Approximately 21ha of road reserve;
Approximately 40ha for allocation of water bores and security management.

Figure 5: ML Application Boundary (MLA)
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CYCLONE MINERAL SANDS PROJECT
The strength of international demand for the Cyclone Project’s high grade and zircon-dominant product was
evidenced by two new agreements reached during 2019.
In August 2019, the Company announced it had executed a non-binding Memorandum of Understanding
(MOU) with China’s Hunan Rare Earth Industry Group Ltd (HRE), whose parent holding company is Hunan
Gold Corporation Ltd, with particular interest in HMC product offtake.
The key terms of the MOU include an immediate progression to more binding agreements, and examination
of the potential for direct project participation (investment). Specifically during the current negotiation
process, HRE has expressed its interest in acquiring 100% of available HMC for the life of the mine (LOM),
which is under further consideration by the Company.
In addition, an Expression of interest (EOI) was received from MCC International Corporation Ltd (MCC).
MCC, part of the China Minmetals Group, expressed interest in providing engineering, procurement and
construction (EPC) services to Cyclone, in addition to assisting in sourcing suitable (Chinese banks and
lending institutions) project finance to facilitate development. Key terms of the EOI include both parties
advancing towards more binding agreements, subject to suitable negotiations.
MCC has a representative office in Perth, has undertaken EPC contracts for a range of resource projects in
Western Australia and hence is familiar with Australian standards and requirements of the resource sector.
Additionally, China Minmetals group company, China ENFI Engineering undertook Cyclone’s definitive
feasibility study (refer ASX announcement 15 November 2018), making it well immersed in the project.
The agreements followed January’s appointment of independent corporate advisers, Blackbird Partners,
with the aim of extracting maximum value for shareholders from Cyclone, one of only a handful of major
zircon-rich discoveries over the past decade.
Blackbird was appointed to conduct a structured and formal process to undertake and progress a detailed
scope of work, focused on assembling strategic third party interest for Cyclone’s funding and development.
This includes participation in the project via direct investment, joint venture or project sale, including the
sourcing, structuring and pricing of potential debt or other financial instruments.
Diatreme is working towards a detailed understanding of which parties will be participating in various
aspects of Cyclone’s development, followed by formal binding agreements.
Based on a visit in November 2019 to market participants in China, further progress on these talks is
expected during 2020.
Ultimately, Diatreme aims to assemble an optimum mix of commercial parties into binding agreements that
will facilitate the project’s development and obtain a suitable commercial outcome for the benefit of
shareholders.
TICK HILL GOLD PROJECT
On 24 April 2019 the Company announced the completion of the sale of its Tick Hill Gold Project to Berkut
Minerals Limited.
Consideration for the sale was the issue of 7,211,539 fully paid ordinary shares to Diatreme in BMT, with
the shares subject to voluntary escrow for a 12-month period from their expected date of issue. The
agreement with Berkut (now renamed Carnaby Resources (ASX:CNB)) has given Diatreme shareholders
exposure to a portfolio of gold assets in western and eastern Australia.
Following settlement completion, Diatreme’s joint venture with Superior Resources Limited (ASX:SPQ)
concerning Tick Hill was also terminated.
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CLERMONT COPPER-GOLD PROJECT
The Clermont Project is situated close to the town of Clermont in Central Queensland. Diatreme is exploring
the area for porphyry copper/gold targets and mesothermal gold targets. The project area covers numerous
prospects including the Rosevale Project and the historic Peak Downs Copper Mine.
At the Gollan Prospect, toward the north of the Rosevale Porphyry Corridor (RPC), the Company has
defined from previous drilling a wide zone of hematite-bearing propylitic alteration of the intrusives, located
in a zone of abundant secondary carbonate copper surface. The geological setting is reminiscent of the
high-grade Ridgeway deposit at Cadia in NSW. Exploration has highlighted drill-ready porphyry copper
targets for follow-up drilling.
No field exploration was undertaken during 2019, and Diatreme management and external consultants
continue to review the Clermont Copper Project, particularly the Rosevale Porphyry Corridor, to determine
its potential for further exploration or disposal.
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Directors’ Report
The Directors present their report on Diatreme Resources Limited (“Diatreme” or “the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019.
Current Directors
The following persons were directors of Diatreme Resources Limited during the whole year and up to the
date of this report:
G B Starr
C Wang
Y Zhuang
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Group during the course of the financial year was exploration for mineral/silica
sands in Australia. There were no changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.
DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been paid since the end of the previous year and the Directors do not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019.
REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
Overview
During the course of the year, the Company made further substantial progress towards the advancement of
its Galalar Silica Project, and maintaining focus on its flagship Cyclone Zircon Project.
In May 2019, Diatreme announced a maiden Indicated Resource, with the project’s total resource (Indicated
and Inferred) comprising some 30.2 million tonnes > 99% SiO2. This highlighted the project’s potential to
become a long-term source of valuable, premium quality silica for fast-growing Asian markets.
Demonstrating the international interest in the project, two offtake MOU’s were signed, with privately owned
Chinese groups Fengsha Group and Wan Zhong Investment Group. While non-binding, the agreements
have set a framework for further co-operation and Diatreme looks forward to progressing these further.
A significant key milestone was achieved with the release in September 2019 of the Scoping Study results
for the Galalar project. The results confirmed Galalar's potential to produce high purity, low iron silica
product suitable for use as a direct feed material in the manufacture of solar panels. It also highlighted the
project's potential to become a significant near-term, low-cost and premium-quality silica producer. In
addition, the Company announced in December 2019 that a Mining Lease Application had been submitted
to the Qld regulator for the project.
Concurrently, heavy emphasis was also placed on the Cyclone project as the Company continued to
engage in detailed discussions with a range of potential project participants, seeking potentially a sale, joint
venture or earn-in partner. This activity was supported and assisted by independent specialist corporate
advisers Blackbird Partners. Based on a visit in November 2019 to market participants in China, further
progress on these talks is expected during 2020.
Ultimately, Diatreme aims to assemble an optimum mix of commercial parties into binding agreements that
will facilitate the project’s development and obtain a suitable commercial outcome for Diatreme.
The above significant achievements were underpinned by continuing support from both existing and new
shareholders. The Company undertook two capital raisings during the year and in particular the November
placement program, which raised $3.6 million (before costs) and attracted a new cornerstone investor, Brian
Flannery’s family office, demonstrated clear support for the Company and its current programs.
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Major Activities
Key operational highlights, in chronological order during the year in review include:
Galalar
•

On 9 January 2019 the Company announced bulk sample tests results for the Galalar project. The tests
analysed 350 kilograms of untreated raw samples extracted from 19 drill holes and confirmed Galalar
could produce a high-purity silica sand with grain sizes within 125-600 microns and an iron content of
less than 100 parts per million, making it suitable for the exacting specifications of high-end processing
(photovoltaic grade).

•

On 14 May 2019 the Company announced a Maiden Indicated Resource. Based on an independent
assessment by Ausrocks, with the addition of a newly identified satellite deposit at West Nob Point, the
project’s Maiden Indicated Resource has now been established at 21.5Mt > 99% SiO2 with a balance of
8.7Mt in Inferred Resource giving an total of 30.2Mt > 99% SiO2 (Indicated and Inferred) resource.

•

The Company undertook in June 2019 a hand auger exploration program with test results from
sampling confirming that potential resource extension targets Elim Road North and South contained
extremely high purity silica sand suitable for the premium silica market. The majority of the 20 auger
holes returned >99% SiO2, showing the potential for a further resource upgrade.

•

The Company signed a memorandum of understanding in July 2019 to supply Anhui Fengsha Mining
Group Co. Ltd. with up to 500,000 tonnes of photovoltaic-grade silica sand to be produced from Galalar.

•

On 9 September 2019, results of the Scoping Study were announced. The results showed a pre-tax net
present value of $231 million, a 150% internal rate of return and an eight-month payback period, along
with:
o Development capital expenditure estimated at $24.4 million
o Annual operating costs estimated at A$42.0 million and
o Expected production volume of 750,000 tonnes per year for 15 years.

•

On 19 September 2019 a further Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was signed with China’s
privately owned Wan Zhong Investment Group for the potential supply of up to 500,000 tonnes per
annum of photovoltaic grade (sub 100ppm Fe2O3) silica sand.

•

On 29 November 2019 the Company announced the results of bench-scale metallurgical testwork
conducted in China.
Results of up to 99.89 per cent silicon dioxide, 0.04 per cent iron (III) oxide, 0.07 per cent titanium
dioxide, and 0.16 per cent aluminium oxide were revealed. The results showed the potential for the
production of a higher grade, higher-value product through the use of a proprietary environmentally
friendly, organic hot acid leach process, potentially resulting in a significant price premium.

•

On 23 December 2019 the Company announced the lodgement of a Mining Lease Application (MLA)
with the Queensland Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy (DNRME) for the Galalar
project. The MLA, which covers a surface area of 523ha, encompasses the previously announced
Indicated Mineral Resource. Proposed disturbance for the life of mine is limited to around 57% of the
lease surface area.

Cyclone
In January 2019, Diatreme appointed specialist corporate advisers Blackbird Partners to facilitate and
optimise commercial outcomes from the Cyclone project’s development and the work undertaken by China
ENFI Engineering Corporation. Blackbird were appointed to manage a structured, formal process to
undertake and progress a detailed scope of work, focused on assembling strategic third party interest for
the funding and development of Cyclone.
On 5 August 2019, the Company announced the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with
Hunan Rare Earth Industry Group for potential life of mine (LOM) offtake of heavy mineral concentrate
(HMC) product and potential investment into project.
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In addition, an Expression of Interest (EOI) was received from MCC International Corporation, part of the
China Minmetals Group, for the potential provision of engineering, procurement and construction services
(EPC) to Cyclone and assistance in sourcing project finance from Chinese state bank and other lenders.
Both agreements are non-binding but set a framework for further engagement towards potentially binding
agreements, providing suitable final terms are agreed.
Tick Hill Gold Project
On 24 April 2019, Diatreme announced the completion of the sale of this non-core asset to ASX-listed
Berkut Minerals Limited. Consideration comprised 7,211,539 fully paid ordinary shares in BMT, with
Diatreme holding a 7.51% interest post-settlement. The agreement with Berkut (now renamed Carnaby
Resources (ASX:CNB)) has given Diatreme shareholders exposure to a portfolio of gold assets in western
and eastern Australia.
Corporate
During the first half of the year, supported by lead manager Hartleys, the Company received $1,380,733
(before costs) through the issue of 125,521,205 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.011 per share from a private
placement program to both new professional and sophisticated investors, and existing shareholders. All of
the shares were issued under the Company’s existing ASX Listing Rule 7.1 capacity.
Also, following shareholder approval at the Company’s May 2019 AGM, the following securities were
issued:
• 1,500,000 fully paid ordinary shares to Non-Executive Director, Mr. William Wang, who contributed
$16,500 to the placement, and
• The following securities to Hartleys as consideration for capital raising and ongoing corporate advisory
services:
o 5,113,636 fully paid ordinary shares equating to $56,250, and
o 50,000,000 unlisted options, with exercise price of $0.024 (2.4 cents) and with 2 year expiry
date
On 21 November 2019 the Company announced the completion of another placement receiving total funds
(before costs) of $3,634,287 through the issue of 363,428,729 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.010 per
share. The shares have a free attaching option issued on a 1 option for every two shares basis, equating to
181,714,365 free-attaching options (“Placement Options”) to be issued. The Placement Options have an
exercise price of $0.020 (2.0 cents) per option and expire 24 months from date of issue.
The Company also agreed to issue 25,000,000 shares for no consideration (“Rebate Shares”) to a
shareholder. Both the Placement Options and Rebate Shares were subsequently approved by shareholders
at a General Meeting held in February 2020.
This November placement had been supported by a new cornerstone investor, Ilwella Limited, representing
the private interests of the Flannery Family Office. Support was also received from sophisticated,
professional and existing shareholders with Hartleys Limited again acting as Lead Manager.
OPERATING RESULTS
The net loss of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 was $1,373,529 (2018: loss of
$2,749,202). In 2018 the main contributor to the decrease in the net loss was the impairment charge of
$1,242,071 to the Tick Hill project.
During the year the Group utilised its cash resources to undertake exploration and evaluation activities
within its tenement portfolio, with 64% expenditure on Galalar and 34% on Cyclone. The Group monitors
cash flow requirements for operational, exploration and evaluation expenditure and will continue to use
capital market issues to satisfy anticipated funding requirements.
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year not otherwise
dealt with in this report.
EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
In February 2020, 181,714,365 Placement Options and 25,000,000 Rebate Shares were issued for no
consideration to shareholders who participated in the November 2019 placement.
On 27 March 2020, the Company announced an agreement had been executed to extend the maturity date
of the $1,500,000 debt facility from 31 July 2020 to 31 November 2021 (refer ASX announcement 27 March
2020).
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS
The Group intends to continue its exploration activities on its existing projects, and progress development of
the Galalar and Cyclone projects.
The Company is actively monitoring government directions for the potential impact of COVID-19 on its
operations and the jurisdictions in which it operates. The pandemic has created heightened business risk
and capital markets are particularly affected in the short term. The Company and management have
instigated active risk management protocols to deal with these issues as they arise.
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
Name:
Title:
Qualifications:
Experience:

Other current directorships:
Former directorships (last 3 years):
Special responsibilities:
Interests in shares:
Interests in options:
Name:
Title:
Qualifications:
Experience:

Other current directorships:
Former directorships (last 3 years):
Special responsibilities:
Interests in shares:
Interests in options:
Name:
Title:
Qualifications:
Experience:

Other current directorships:
Former directorships (last 3 years):
Special responsibilities:
Interests in shares:
Interests in options:

Gregory Barry Starr
Non-Executive Chairman
B Bus, CPA
Mr Starr was appointed a Non-Executive Director and Chairman in
May 2018. He is a highly experienced corporate leader in the
resources sector, with over 25 years of executive management
experience across a number of Australian and international
companies. This includes roles as Chief Executive Officer of Pulse
Markets Pty Ltd, Executive Director of BIR Financial Limited,
Managing Director of Crater Gold Mining Company Limited (ASX),
President and Director of Kenai Resources Limited (TSX), Chief
Executive Officer of Golden China Resources (TSX) and Managing
Director of Emperor Mines Limited.
BIR Financial Limited
Azure Health Technology Limited
None
Chair of audit committee and remuneration committee
None
None
Cheng (William) Wang
Non-Executive Director
MBA
Mr Wang was appointed a Director in May 2011. For 15 years he
held senior management positions in several major Chinese state
owned companies, with his most recent role being in charge of an
international commodities trading arm with group assets exceeding
$1.5 billion. Having worked across most provinces in China and
understanding Chinese politics and government systems, he has
developed wide business connections within China. Now domiciled
in Australia, he has over recent years been active with Australian
companies including directorships with China Century Capital
Limited, Jupiter Mines Limited, and Gulf Alumina Limited.
None
None
Member of audit and remuneration committee
5,767,255 ordinary shares (held indirectly)
None
Yufeng (Daniel) Zhuang
Non-Executive Director
BA (Bejing, China), MSc (New Jersey, USA)
Mr. Zhuang was appointed a Director in August 2013. He was
nominated to the Board by the former association of Chinese
shareholders Messrs Zhensheng Zhuang, Chenfei Zhuang and Qi
Lin, to represent their significant investment and ongoing corporate
commitments towards the Company. He has worked for Ping An
Securities in Beijing and Fujian Minxing Group in Zhangzhou,
China.
None
None
Member of audit committee
151,841,819 ordinary shares (held directly)
None
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Tuan Do – B Comm., CA
Mr Do is a Chartered Accountant with extensive corporate experience in a diverse range of industries,
including coal and gold mining companies. This experience has involved all areas of financial reporting,
treasury management, capital raisings, mergers and acquisitions, and establishment of systems and
procedures.
MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The number of meetings of the board of Directors held during the year ended 31 December 2019, and the
number of meetings attended by each Director was:
Name

Board of Directors

G B Starr
C Wang
Y Zhuang

Eligible to
attend
6
6
6

Audit Committee
Eligible
to attend
2
2
2

Attended
6
6
1

Attended
2
2
-

Remuneration
Committee
Eligible
to attend
2
2
-

Attended
2
2
-

REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED
This remuneration report outlines the key management personnel remuneration arrangements of the Group
in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. For the purposes of
this report, key management personnel (KMP) of the Group are defined as those persons having authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Group directly or
indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the parent company, and includes the
specified executives. For the purposes of this report, the term 'executive' encompasses the chief executive,
senior executives and secretaries of the Company and the Group.
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)
(g)

Key management personnel
Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
Relationship of remuneration with Group performance
Details of remuneration
Employment contracts
Share-based compensation
Equity instruments held by key management personnel

(a) Key management personnel (KMP)
The Directors and other key management personnel of the Company during or since the end of the financial
year were:
•
•
•
•
•

Gregory Barry Starr (Non-Executive Chairman)
Chen (William) Wang (Non-Executive Director)
Yufeng (Daniel) Zhuang (Non-Executive Director)
Neil John McIntyre (Chief Executive Officer)
Tuan Do (CFO & Company Secretary)

(b) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the ability to
attract and retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders.

Diatreme Resources Limited Annual Report 2019

22

P a g e | 20

Non-Executive Directors
Fees and payments to Non-Executive Directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the
responsibilities of, the Director. Non-Executive Directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the
Remuneration Committee.
Non-Executive Directors’ fees are determined within an aggregate Directors’ fee pool limit, which is
periodically recommended for approval by shareholders. The maximum currently stands at $300,000 per
annum plus statutory superannuation.
Executive remuneration
The Group aims to reward executives based on their position and responsibility, with a level and mix of
remuneration which has both fixed and variable components.
The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components:
●
base pay
●
short-term performance incentives
●
share-based payments
●
other remuneration such as superannuation and long service leave
The combination of these comprises the executive's total remuneration. Fixed remuneration, consisting of
base salary, superannuation, are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee based on individual
and business unit performance, the overall performance of the Group and comparable market
remunerations.
(c) Relationship of remuneration with Group performance
The Directors consider that, as the Group is in an exploration phase of its development, it is not appropriate
that remuneration for employees and Directors be linked to the financial performance of the Group. Once
the Group enters a sustained production phase, this assessment may change accordingly.
Unit
Share price at year
end
Market capitalisation
Revenue
Total assets
Net loss after tax

(restated)

(restated)

2016

2017

2018

2019

0.01

0.01

0.02

0.02

0.012

15,916,953
13,814
14,441,405
1,418,526

21,284,871
15,053
17,214,636
2,749,202

21,965,416
19,393
19,881,539
1,373,529

2015

$/share

8,097,490
153,374
13,545,426
3,793,703

$
$
$
$

8,767,327
62,944
14,060,241
1,850,962

(d) Details of remuneration
Short-term
benefits

Postemployment
benefits

Cash salary
& fees
$

Superannua
tion
$

60,000
43,250
98,750

5,700
4,109
9,381

-

-

-

65,700
47,359
108,131

240,000
155,875

22,800
14,808

1,710*
27,286*

25,000
-

36,602
-

326,112
197,969

Total
597,875
56,798
28,996
25,000
* 2019 is the first year long service leave being recognised for these KMPs.

36,602

745,271

2019

Name
Non-Executive
Directors
G B Starr
C Wang
Y Zhuang
Executive
N J McIntyre
T Do
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service
leave
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Share-based payments
Shares
as
Performance
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Rights
$
$

P a g e | 21

Total
$

Short-term
benefits

Postemployment
benefits

Cash salary &
fees
$

Superannuat
ion
$

2018

Name
Non-Executive
Directors
A Tsang (i)
C Wang
Y Zhuang
G B Starr
Executive
N J McIntyre
T Do
Total
(i)

Longterm
benefits
Long
service
leave
$

Share-based
payments
Performance
Rights
$

Total
$

32,000
32,000
90,000
47,937

3,040
3,040
8,550
4,554

-

-

35,040
35,040
98,550
52,491

220,000
129,000
550,937

20,900
12,255
52,339

-

-

240,900
141,255
603,276

Represents remuneration from 1 January 2018 to 12 December 2018 (date of resignation).

The group also paid $92,750 (2018: $131,374) for specialist market and consultancy services from Fortune
Corporation Australia Pty Limited, a director-related entity of William Wang.
(e) Employment contracts
Remuneration and other terms of employment for executives are formalised in employment contracts.
Employment contracts are not of a fixed term. Employment contracts specify a range of notice periods.
(f) Share-based compensation
Shares
Details of shares issued to key management personnel as part of compensation during the year ended 31
December 2019 are set out below:
Name
Neil McIntyre

Date
7 May 2019

Shares
2,083,334

Issue price
$0.012

$
25,000

Performance Rights
Under an established Performance Rights Plan approved by shareholders at the 2018 AGM, the Chief
Executive Officer, Mr McIntyre was issued 5,833,333 Performance Rights on 24 May 2019 subject to
various vesting conditions.
Based upon a valuation of the performance rights at the grant date an amount of $36,602 has been
included in remuneration of the recipient based on the value attributable to the milestones over the
determined vesting period during the 2019 financial year.
The fair value of the performance rights granted during the financial year is estimated as at the date of grant
using the Monte Carlo Simulation valuation model taking into account the following inputs:
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Underlying price
per share
Exercise price
Expiry date
Vesting period
Risk-free rate
Volatility
Dividend Yield
Performance Right
Value
No. of Performance
Rights

Tranche 1
$0.011 per share

Tranche 2
$0.011 per share

Tranche 3
$0.011 per share

Tranche 4
$0.011 per share

Tranche 5
$0.011 per share

zero

zero

zero

zero

zero

Two years after
grant date
2 years
1.23%
117.53%
0.00%
$0.009832

Two years after
grant date
2 years
1.23%
117.53%
0.00%
$0.009832

Two years after
grant date
2 years
1.23%
117.53%
0.00%
$0.009832

Six months after
grant date
0.5 years
1.23%
103.38%
0.00%
$0.010716

Seven months
after grant date
0.58 years
1.23%
102.97%
0.00%
$0.010669

833,333

1,666,667

833,333

833,333

1,666,667

(g) Equity instruments held by KMP
Shareholding
The following table details the number of fully paid ordinary shares in the Company that were held during
the financial year by key management personnel of the Group, including their close family members and
entities related to them.

Key
Management
Personnel

Balance at
start of year

G B Starr
C Wang
Y Zhuang
N J McIntyre
T Do
Total

4,267,255
160,983,890
671,482
165,922,627

Issued as
Remuneration

Options
exercised/
conversion
of Perf.
Rights

Acquired/
(disposed)

Net other
change #

Balance at the
end of the
year

2,500,000
2,500,000

(9,142,071)
1,868,182
(7,273,889)

1,500,000
1,500,000

5,767,255
151,841,819
7,122,998
164,732,072

2,083,334
2,083,334

# Part of April 2019 Share Placement. Approved at May 2019 AGM.
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Option holding
The following table details the number unlisted options over ordinary shares in the Company that were held
during the financial year by key management personnel of the Group, including their close family members
and entities related to them.
Key
Management
Personnel

Balance at
the start of
the year

G B Starr
C Wang
Y Zhuang
N J McIntyre
T Do
Total

1,000,000
1,000,000
1,000,000
3,000,000

Granted as
remuneration

Options
exercised
-

-

Options
expired

(1,000,000)
(1,000,000)
(1,000,000)
(3,000,000)

Net other
change

Balance at
the end of
the year
-

-

Performance Rights
The following table details the number Performance Rights that were held during the financial year by key
management personnel of the Group, including their close family members and entities related to them.
Key
Management
Personnel
G B Starr
C Wang
Y Zhuang
N J McIntyre
T Do
Total

Balance at
the start
of the year
-

Granted as
remuneration

5,833,333
5,833,333

Vested and
converted to
shares
(2,500,000)
(2,500,000)

Lapsed as hurdle
not
achieved/cancelled

-

Balance at
the end of
the year

3,333,333
3,333,333

END OF AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT
SHARES UNDER OPTION
Unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:
Issue date
3 June 2019

Expiry date
2 June 2021

Exercise price
2.4 cents

Number under
option
50,000,000

Type
Unlisted

No person entitled to exercise the options had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any
share issue of the Company.
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The Group is subject to environmental regulation in relation to its exploration activities. There are no matters
that have arisen in relation to environmental issues up to the date of this report.
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INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
The Company has indemnified the directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, in their
capacity as a director or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a
lack of good faith.
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and
executives of the Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The
contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of liability and the amount of the premium.
INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF AUDITOR
The Company has not, during or since the end of the financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify the
auditor of the Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor.
During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor
of the Company or any related entity.
PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring
proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party
for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.
NON-AUDIT SERVICES
William Buck (Qld), the Company’s current auditor, did not perform any other services in addition to their
statutory audit duties.
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act
2001 is set out on page 12.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the
Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the directors

Gregory B. Starr
Non-Executive Chairman
Brisbane, 27 March 2020
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER SECTION 307C OF THE CORPORATIONS ACT
2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF DIATREME RESOURCES LIMITED

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 31 December 2019, there have
been:
-

no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

-

no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

William Buck (Qld)
ABN 21 559 713 106

J A Latif
Director
Brisbane, 27 March 2020

ACCOUNTANTS & ADVISORS
Level 21, 307 Queen Street
Brisbane QLD 4000
GPO Box 563
Brisbane QLD 4001
Telephone: +61 7 3229 5100
Williambuck.com

William Buck is an association of firms, each trading under the name of William Buck across Australia and
New Zealand with affiliated offices worldwide. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional
Standards Legislation other than for acts or omissions of financial services licensees.
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Financial Report
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Note
Revenue
Other income
Reversal of provision for rehabilitation
Total revenue and income

2
2
8

Employee benefit expenses
Depreciation expenses
Impairment of exploration asset (Tick Hill)
Share based payment expense
Fair value movement in financial assets
Other expenses
Finance costs
Total expenses

2
7
19
8
2

Loss before income tax
Income tax benefit

2019
$

2018
$

19,393
109,557
272,000
400,950

15,053
40,830
55,883

(621,728)
(75,273)
(117,852)
(36,058)
(722,104)
(201,464)

(554,759)
(31,370)
(1,242,071)
(36,370)
(711,619)
(228,896)

(1,774,479)

(2,805,085)

(1,373,529)

(2,749,202)

-

-

(1,373,529)

(2,749,202)

3

Net loss for the year
Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

-

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Loss per share
Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

4
4

-

(1,373,529)

(2,749,202)

Cents

Cents

(0.1)
(0.1)

(0.2)
(0.2)

The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2019

Note
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial asset
Non-current assets classified as held
for sale
Total Current Assets
Non-current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Exploration and evaluation assets
Other assets
Total Non-current Assets

5
6
8

2018
$

2,487,120
61,677
526,442

858,299
76,448
-

3,075,239

934,747

7

3,075,239

562,500
1,497,247

9
10
11
12

114,893
66,273
16,610,502
14,632

145,640
15,154,429
417,320

16,806,300

15,717,389

19,881,539

17,214,636

753,891
1,590,929
56,146
4,422

1,498,507
32,429
9,238

2,405,388

1,540,174

31,484

1,500,000
-

32,250
63,734

272,000
1,772,000

2,469,122

3,312,174

17,412,417

13,902,462

60,640,184
309,830
(43,537,597)

55,979,231
255,496
(42,332,265)

17,412,417

13,902,462

Total Assets
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Provisions
Total Current Liabilities

13
14
15
16

Non-current Liabilities
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Provisions
Total Non-current Liabilities

14
15
16

Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

2019
$

17
18
20

Total Equity

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2019
Note

Issued
capital

Sharebased
payment
reserve
$

$
At 1 January 2018

Convertible
note reserve

Accumulated
losses

Total

$

$

$

49,979,066

191,938

1,465,699

(39,583,063)

12,053,640

-

-

-

(2,749,202)

(2,749,202)

17

4,815,147
(314,982)

63,558

-

-

4,815,147
(251,424)

17

1,500,000

-

(1,465,699)

-

34,301

Balance at 31 December 2018

55,979,231

255,496

-

(42,332,265)

13,902,462

At 1 January 2019
Adjustment for change in
accounting policy

55,979,231

255,496

-

(42,332,265)

13,902,462

-

-

-

(23,741)

(23,741)

55,979,231

255,496

-

(42,356,006)

13,878,721

-

-

-

(1,373,529)

(1,373,529)

Transactions with
owners in their
capacity as owners:
Shares issued

5,112,770

-

-

-

5,112,770

Share issue costs

(242,147)

-

-

-

(242,147)

Total comprehensive
income: Loss for the year
Transactions with
owners in their
capacity as owners:
Shares issued
Share issue costs
Convertible note
conversion to shares

1 (e)

Balance at 1 January
2019 – restated
Total comprehensive
income: Loss for the year

Options issued as
success fee for share
placement

19 (a)

(236,382)

236,382

-

-

-

Performance rights
issued

19 (a)

-

36,602

-

-

36,602

Exercise of vested
performance rights

18

26,712

(26,712)

-

-

-

-

(191,938)

-

191,938

-

60,640,184

309,830

-

(43,537,597)

17,412,417

Reclassification of
expired options
Balance at 31
December 2019

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Diatreme Resources Limited Annual Report 2019

31

P a g e | 29

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2019

Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts in the course of operations
Payments to suppliers and employees
Interest received
Finance costs
Net cash used in operating activities

2019
$

2018
$

17,549
(1,358,822)
4,793
(26,893)
(1,363,373)

12,923
(1,291,730)
980
(1,996)
(1,279,823)

(344)
(2,128,494)
(1,500)
404,188
(1,726,150)

(46,641)
(1,860,958)
(375,688)
2,500
(2,280,787)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Payments for share issue costs
Repayment of lease liabilities
Net cash from financing activities

5,016,520
(242,147)
(56,029)
4,718,344

4,512,322
(251,424)
4,260,898

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

1,628,821

700,288

858,299

158,011

2,487,120

858,299

5

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Payments for exploration and evaluation assets
Payments for security deposits
Refund of security deposits
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

5

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2019
1. Statement of significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting
Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. The Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting
purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group also comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 March 2020.
(b) Basis of measurement
The Group financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for financial assets
which are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
(c) Functional and presentation currency
These Group financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Company’s functional
currency and the functional currency of the Group.
(d) Accounting policies
Accounting policies have been applied consistently by all of the Group’s entities and to all periods presented
in the consolidated financial statements. Specific significant accounting policies are described in the note to
which they relate. The following accounting policy applies to the consolidated financial statements as a
whole:
Good and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST
incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net
amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash
flows arising from investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation
authority, are presented as operating cash flows.
(e) Adoption of new and revised accounting standards
The consolidated entity has adopted all of the new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are mandatory for the current reporting
period.
Any new or amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been
early adopted.
The impact of adopting a new accounting standard, AASB 16 Leases, is disclosed below.
Changes in Accounting Policy
AASB 16 Leases specifies how to recognize, measure, present and disclose leases. The standard provides
a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for all major leases.
The Group has adopted AASB 16 retrospectively from 1 January 2019 but has not restated comparatives
for the 2018 reporting periods, as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in the standard. The
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2019
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the
opening statement of financial position on 1 January 2019.
On adoption of AASB 16 the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously
been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of AASB 117 Leases. These liabilities were
measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019. The average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities on 1 January was 8%.
The Group leases its Brisbane head office, on a three year rental contract beginning on 1 July 2016, with an
extension option at the option of the lessee for a further period of two years. The Group has recently
exercised that option to enter into a two-year rental contract which will expire on 30 June 2021.
Until the 2018 financial year, the property lease was classified as an operating lease. Payments made
under operating leases were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date
at which the leased asset is available for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit and loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. The
right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight
line basis.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be
determined, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment
with similar terms and conditions.
The adoption of AASB 16 on 1 January 2019 affected the following items on the statement of financial
position:
•
•
•

Right-of-use assets – increase by $110,455 (refer note 10)
Lease liabilities – increase by $134,196 (refer note 15)
Accumulated loss – increase by $23,741

(f) Going Concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the
continuity of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the
normal course of business.
The Group has incurred a net loss after tax for the year ended 31 December 2019 of $1,373,529 and a net
cash outflow from operations of $1,363,373. At 31 December 2019, the Group’s current assets exceeded its
current liabilities by $669,851.
During the year ended 31 December 2019 the Group raised $5,016,520 from private placements (before
costs).
The Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and pay its debts as and when they fall due, is
dependent upon the successful future raising of necessary funding through equity, successful exploration
and subsequent exploitation of the Group’s tenements, securing product offtake agreements for the Cyclone
and Galalar Projects, and/or sale of non-core assets.
The Directors have reviewed the business outlook and cash flow forecasts and are of the opinion that the
use of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate as they believe the Group will achieve the
matters set out above. As such, the Directors believe that they will continue to be successful in securing
additional capital through debt or equity issues as and when the need to raise working capital arises. On 27
March 2020, the Company announced an agreement had been executed to extend the maturity date of the
Diatreme Resources Limited Annual Report 2019

34

P a g e | 32

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2019
$1,500,000 debt facility from 31 July 2020 to 31 November 2021 (Refer to ASX announcement 27 March
2020).
The reliance on securing additional capital through debt or equity gives rise to the existence of a material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore whether it will be able to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the ordinary course of
business.
The Directors believe that they will continue to be successful in securing additional funds through the issue
of securities as and when required. Accordingly, the financial statements do not include any adjustments
relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts, nor to the amounts and
classification of liabilities that may be necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern.
(g) Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The application of accounting policies requires the use of judgements, estimates and assumptions about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if it
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.
Share-based payment transactions:
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value of options and performance rights is
determined using either the Black Scholes or Monte Carlo Simulation taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the instruments were granted.
Exploration and evaluation assets:
The application of the Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation assets requires judgment in
determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits are likely either from future exploitation or sale
or where activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of
reserves.
2. Revenue, other income and expenses
a) Revenue
Interest
Other

2019
$

2018
$

4,793
14,600
19,393

980
14,073
15,053

106,608
2,949
109,557

40,830
40,830

31,091
44,182
75,273

31,370
31,370

b) Other income
Gain on fair value adjustment to borrowings
Other
c) Depreciation
Plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets - buildings
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d) Other expenses
Professional fees
Rental expenses on operating leases
Listing and share registry expenses
Administration costs

96,768
16,863
86,337
522,136
722,104

121,540
65,960
74,622
449,497
711,619

Accounting policy: revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the consolidated entity is
expected to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with
a customer, the consolidated entity: identifies the contract with a customer; identifies the performance
obligations in the contract; determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable
consideration and the time value of money; allocates the transaction price to the separate performance
obligations on the basis of the relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be
delivered; and recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that
depicts the transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised. Interest revenue is recognised on a
time proportion basis using the effective interest method.
3. Income Tax
2019
$

2018
$

(1,373,529)

(2,749,202)

(377,720)

(824,761)

35,074
(342,647)
342,647
-

755
(824,006)
824,006
-

Unused tax losses

67,781,117

65,287,850

Potential tax effect at 27.5% (2018: 30%)

18,639,807

19,586,355

The prima facie tax on accounting loss differs from the income tax provided in
the financial statements. The difference is reconciled as follows:
Loss before income tax
Prima facie income tax benefit at 27.5% (2018: 30%)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible in calculating taxable income:
Other
Deferred tax assets not recognised
Total income tax benefit
(a) Tax losses

The Group has not recognised the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses in the financial
statements as it is not considered probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available in future periods
with which to be offset.
Accounting policy: income tax
The income tax expense or benefit for the year is the tax payable on the taxable income based upon the
national income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements, and to unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to
apply when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or
substantively enacted for each jurisdiction. The relevant tax rates are applied to the cumulative amounts of
deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or liability. An exception is
made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability. No
deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a
transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either
accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
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for the year ended 31 December 2019
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in other comprehensive
income are also recognised directly in other comprehensive income.
Tax consolidation legislation
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have implemented the tax consolidation
legislation.
Where applicable, each entity in the Group recognises its own current and deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Amounts resulting from unused tax losses and tax credits are then immediately assumed by the
parent entity. The current tax liability of each subsidiary entity is then also assumed by the parent entity.
The entities have also entered into a tax sharing and funding arrangement. Under the terms of this
agreement, the wholly-owned entities reimburse the Company for any current income tax payable by the
Company arising in respect of their activities. The reimbursements are payable at the same time as the
associated income tax liability falls due.
In the opinion of the Directors, the tax sharing agreement is also a valid agreement under the tax
consolidation legislation and limits the joint and several liability of the wholly-owned entities in the case of a
default by the Company.
4. Loss per share
Loss after income tax attributable to the owners of Diatreme Resources
Limited

2019
$

2018
$

(1,373,529)

(2,749,202)

Number

Number

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic
earnings per share

1,428,681,311 1,123,597,912

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted
earnings per share

1,428,681,311 1,123,597,912
Cents

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

Cents

(0.1)
(0.1)

(0.2)
(0.2)

Options are considered to be potential ordinary shares but were anti-dilutive in nature and therefore the
diluted loss per share is the same as the basic loss per share.
Accounting policy: earnings/loss per share
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year.
Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no
consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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5. Cash and cash equivalents
2019
$
1,422
985,698
1,500,000
2,487,120

Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Cash on deposit

2018
$

858,299
858,299

a) Reconciliation on net profit/(loss) to net cash flows used in operating activities
2019
$
Loss for the year
Non-cash items
Depreciation
Impairment of financial asset
Share based payment expense
Fair value movement in financial asset
Interest expense for leases
Gain on fair value adjustment to borrowings
Movements in operating assets and liabilities
Decrease / (increase) in receivables
Increase / (decrease) in payables
Increase / (decrease) in provisions
Net cash used In operating activities

2018
$

(1,373,529)

(2,749,202)

75,273
117,852
36,058
9,463
58,500

31,370
1,242,071
36,370
(40,830)

29,771
(72,195)
(244,566)
(1,363,373)

(75,174)
275,572
(1,279,823)

Accounting policy: cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, on-demand deposits and short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant changes
in value.
6. Trade and other receivables

Other receivables #
# Receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due.

2019
$
61,677
61,677

2018
$
76,448
76,448

Accounting policy: trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised at nominal amount less an allowance for uncollectible amounts
and have repayment terms between 30 and 90 days. Collectability of receivables is assessed on an
ongoing basis. An ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model is used to recognise an allowance. Impairment is
measured using the lifetime ECL method.
7. Non-current assets classified as held for sale
On 5 June 2018, the Company signed a term sheet to sell its Tick Hill Gold Project into an Initial Public
Offering (IPO) by Carnaby Resources Limited (Carnaby). Under the term sheet, the Company would have
received a minimum of 3,225,000 shares and a maximum of 4,500,000 shares dependent on total
subscriptions received priced at $0.25 each (valued from $806,250 to $1,125,000) to be allocated in a
successful public float by Carnaby. The IPO however did not proceed and the term sheet was superseded
by the following event as detailed in Note 8 below. The sale consideration was deemed to be $562,500 and
the Tick Hill Gold Project was impaired to this value. An impairment charge of $1,242,071 was recorded for
the financial year ended 31 December 2018.
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8. Financial Asset
On 11 March 2019, the Company executed a binding, conditional Heads of Agreement to sell its interest in
the Tick Hill Gold Project, to a nominee of Berkut Minerals Limited (Berkut) (ASX: BMT). Berkut itself
entered into a series of interdependent agreements whereby it first acquired Carnaby, and then through
Carnaby (as its nominee) acquired 100% of the legal and beneficial interest in the Project. This sale
transaction was completed on 24 April 2019, and the Company was issued with 7,211,529 shares in the
capital of BMT to the value of $562,500.
Berkut subsequently changed its name on 1 May 2019 to Carnaby Resources Limited (ASX: CNB).

Opening balance
Shares received as consideration for the interest in the Tick Hill Gold Project
Revaluation
Closing balance

2019
$
562,500
(36,058)
526,442

2018
$
-

Accounting policy: Financial asset
The CNB shares are stated at fair value. The Company adopted AASB 9 from 1 January 2018, which
requires fair value changes to be recognised in profit or loss.
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following
fair value measurement hierarchy:
1) Level 1 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
2) Level 2 Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability;
3) Level 3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.
The CNB securities are traded in an active market, being the Australian Securities Exchange, and
consequently they are measured as a Level 1 instrument on the fair value hierarchy. The quoted market
price, used to determine the value of these securities is the bid price at balance date.
$272,000 provision for rehabilitation in relation to the Tick Hill project was reversed as a result of the sale.
9. Property, plant & equipment

Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation charge
Closing net book amount
At 31 December 2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Diatreme Resources Limited Annual Report 2019

Furniture
and fittings

Motor vehicles

Plant and
Equipment

Total

$

$

$

$

3,848
(770)
3,078

10,829
44,978
(4,219)
51,588

115,692
1,663
(26,381)
90,974

130,369
46,641
(31,370)
145,640

134,723
(131,645)
3,078

144,150
(92,562)
51,588

1,065,914
(974,940)
90,974

1,344,787
(1,199,147)
145,640
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Year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book amount
Additions
Depreciation charge
Closing net book amount
At 31 December 2019
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Furniture
and fittings

Motor vehicles

Plant and
Equipment

Total

$

$

$

$

3,078
(616)
2,462

51,588
(11,388)
40,200

90,974
344
(19,087)
72,231

145,640
344
(31,091)
114,893

134,723
(132,261)
2,462

144,150
(103,950)
40,200

1,066,259
(994,028)
72,231

1,345,132
(1,230,239)
114,893

Accounting policy: property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost, including costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management, less depreciation and any impairments.
Depreciation is calculated on a diminishing value basis. Estimates of remaining useful lives are made on a
regular basis for all assets.
The depreciation rates used for each class of assets are as follows:
Furniture and fittings
Motor vehicles
Plant and equipment

20%
20%
20-40%

10. Right-of-use assets

Buildings
$
110,455
(44,182)
66,273

Balance at 1 January 2019 (adoption of AASB 16)
Depreciation charge
Balance at 31 December 2019

The Company right-of-use assets consist of leases for its office expiring on 30 June 2021.
Accounting policy: Right-of-use assets
A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any
lease payments made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial
direct costs incurred, and, except where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to
be incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the consolidated entity expects to obtain
ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life.
Right-of use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities.
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11. Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets – at cost less impairment

2019
$
16,610,502

2018
$
15,154,429

Opening balance
Costs capitalised during the year
Impairment of Tick Hill Project
Transfer Tick Hill Project to non-current assets classified as held for sale
Closing balance

15,154,429
1,456,073
16,610,502

13,988,080
2,970,920
(1,242,071)
(562,500)
15,154,429

Accounting policy: Exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring licences, are capitalised as exploration
and evaluation assets on an area of interest basis. Costs incurred before the Group has obtained the legal
rights to explore an area are recognised in profit or loss.
Exploration and evaluation assets are only recognised if the rights to the tenure of the area of interest are
current and either:
•
•

the expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful development and exploitation of the
area of interest or alternatively, by its sale; or
activities in the area of interest have not, at the reporting date, reached a stage which permits a
reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves and active
and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are continuing.

Exploration and evaluation costs have been capitalised on the basis that the Group will commence
commercial production in the future, from which time the costs will be amortised in proportion to the
depletion of the mineral resources. Key judgements are applied in considering costs to be capitalised which
includes determining expenditures directly related to these activities and allocating overheads between
those that are expensed and capitalised. In addition, costs are only capitalised that are expected to be
recovered either through successful development or sale of the relevant mining interest. Factors that could
impact the future commercial production at the mine include the level of reserves and resources, future
technology changes, which could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes and changes in commodity
prices. To the extent that capitalised costs are determined not to be recoverable in the future, they will be
written off in the period in which this determination is made.
At balance date the carrying amount of exploration and evaluation assets was $16,610,502 of which
$13,988,616 is attributable to the significant exploration of the Group’s Cyclone Zircon Project.
Accounting policy: impairment of assets
At the end of each reporting period the Group assesses whether there is any indication that individual
assets are impaired. Where impairment indicators exist, recoverable amount is determined and impairment
losses are recognised in profit or loss where the asset's carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purpose of assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Where it is not possible to estimate recoverable amount for an individual asset, recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
The carrying values of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure and property, plant and
equipment are assessed for impairment when indicators of such impairment exist. External factors, such as
changes in expected future processes, technology and economic conditions, are also monitored to assess
for indicators of impairment.
Diatreme Resources Limited Annual Report 2019

41

P a g e | 39

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2019
12. Other non-current assets
Rent guarantee deposit
Security deposits

13. Trade, other payables and employee benefits
Unsecured
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Employee benefits

2019
$
13,365
1,267
14,632

2018
$
13,365
403,955
417,320

2019
$

2018
$

429,883
230,038
93,970
753,891

1,103,133
341,746
53,628
1,498,507

Accounting policy: trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the
reporting period and which remain unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days
of recognition.
Accounting policy: employee benefits - Wages and Salaries and Annual Leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled
within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are recognised in other liabilities in respect of
employees' services rendered up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at amounts expected
to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
14. Borrowings

2019
$

2018
$

Unsecured loan
Total borrowings

1,590,929
1,590,929

1,532,429
1,532,429

Current liability
Non-current liability

1,590,929
1,590,929

32,429
1,500,000
1,532,429

During the year ended 31 December 2015, as part of the capital raising exercise, the Company entered into
a funding agreement with a private investor for the provision of a $3 million facility.
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the convertible notes facility was drawn down. The Note
matured on 31 July 2018.
After reaching an agreement with the holder of the Note on 25 July 2018, at an extraordinary general
meeting held on 11 October 2018, shareholders approved the following:
(i)

Extension of the maturity date from 31 July 2018 to 31 July 2020 for the $1.5 million cash
component of the Note with interest of 5.20% p.a. payable quarterly in arrears;

(ii)

Conversion of $1.5 million equity component of the Note into fully paid ordinary shares of the
Company at $0.02 per share, and

(iii)

all outstanding interest up to maturity date of 31 July 2018, on both the equity and cash component
of the Note will be converted into ordinary shares of the Company, at the prevailing share price as
at the date of conversion.

On 24 October 2018, 75,000,000 shares were issued pursuant to item (ii) and 12,171,308 shares were
issued pursuant to item (iii). Subsequent to this share conversion, the Note only has a debt component and
is recognised as borrowings.
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On 27 March 2020, the Company announced an agreement had been executed to extend the maturity date
of the $1,500,000 debt facility from 31 July 2020 to 31 November 2021 (Refer to ASX announcement 27
March 2020).
Accounting Policy: borrowings
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of
transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the period of the loans and borrowings using the effective interest method.
The component of the convertible notes that exhibits characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in
the statement of financial position, net of transaction costs.
All borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
15. Lease liabilities

2019
$
56,146
31,484
87,630

Current liability
Non-current liability
The lease liabilities are presented as below:

2018
$

-

Total
$
24,582
109,614
134,196
(56,029)
9,463
87,630

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 December 2018
Extension of lease term to 30 June 2021 and increment of monthly rental
Balance at 1 January 2019 (adoption of AASB 16)
Payments recognised as financial cash outflow
Interest charges during the year
Balance at 31 December 2019

Accounting policy: lease liability
A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised
at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the consolidated entity's
incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under
residual value guarantees, exercise price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is
reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts
are remeasured if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or a rate used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination
penalties. When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use
asset, or to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down.
16. Provisions

Current liabilities
Long service leave
Non-current liabilities
Long service leave
Rehabilitation
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Accounting policy: employee benefits - Long Service Leave
Liabilities for long service leave are recognised as part of the provision for employee benefits and measured
as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees
to the end of the reporting period. Consideration is given to expected future salaries and wages levels,
experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using
corporate bond rates at the end of the reporting period with terms to maturity and currency that match, as
closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
Accounting policy: Rehabilitation provision
A provision for rehabilitation is recognised when there is a present obligation to rehabilitate an area
disturbed, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. An asset is created as part of the exploration and
evaluation assets which is offset by a provision for rehabilitation.
The Group's exploration activities are subject to various laws and regulations governing the protection of the
environment. The Group recognises management's best estimate for assets retirement obligations and site
rehabilitations in the period in which they are incurred. Actual costs incurred in the future periods could differ
materially from the estimates. Additionally, future changes to environmental laws and regulations, life of
mine estimates and discount rates could affect the carrying amount of this provision.
17. Issued Capital

2019
$
60,640,184

1,830,451,346 (Dec 2018: 1,330,304,442) ordinary shares
(a) Movements in ordinary share capital
Date

Details

Number of
shares

1 Jan 2018
Jan (1)
Jan (2)
Feb (1)
Mar (1)
Apr (1)
May (2)
Aug (2)
Oct (2)
Oct (3)
Oct (4)
Oct (5)

Opening balance
Exercise of unlisted options
Shares issued
Exercise of unlisted options
Exercise of unlisted options
Exercise of unlisted options
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issue costs
Balance
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issued
Shares issue costs
Balance

994,809,591
10,000,000
24,500,000
20,000,000
5,000,000
20,000,000
13,888,889
11,375,000
141,741,154
1,818,500
75,000,000
12,171,308
1,330,304,442
125,521,205
2,083,334
1,500,000
5,113,636
363,428,729
2,500,000
1,830,451,346

31 Dec 2018
Apr (2)
May (6)
Jun (7)
Jun (8)
Nov (2)
Nov (9)
31 Dec 2019
(1)
(2)
(3)

(4)
(5)

2018
$
55,979,231

Issue price
$
0.012
0.020
0.012
0.012
0.012
0.018
0.020
0.020
0.020
0.020
0.026
0.011
0.012
0.011
0.011
0.010
0.010

$
49,979,066
120,000
490,000
240,000
60,000
240,000
250,000
227,500
2,834,823
36,370
1,500,000
316,454
(314,982)
55,979,231
1,380,733
25,000
16,500
56,250
3,634,287
26,712
(478,529)
60,640,184

Options attached to the share placement completed in September 2017.
During both the 2018 and 2019 financial years the Company completed several placements to sophisticated and
professional investors.
1,818,500 shares (and 909,250 free attaching listed options) issued as full consideration in lieu of the payment of
fees of $36,370 by the Company to a supplier in connection with public relations assistance provided to the
Company in carrying out its October 2018 Placement.
Shares issued from conversion of $1.5 million equity component of the $3 million Note (Refer to Note 14 above).
Shares issued from conversion of all outstanding interest up to maturity date of 31 July 2018, on both the equity and
cash component of the $3 million Note (Refer to Note 14 above).
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(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)

Shares issued as compensation to CEO for achieving various KPIs.
Part of April 2019 Placement – shares subscribed by director (C Wang). Approved at May 2019 AGM.
Shares issued as consideration for portion of advisory fees provided by Hartleys in carrying out its October 2018
Placement.
Shares issued to CEO from exercise of vested Performance Rights.

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the
Company in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary
shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. On a
show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a
poll each share shall have one vote.
Accounting policy: issued capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
(b) Share Options
Expiry date
2 June 2021 (unlisted) (1)
16 December 2019 (listed) (2)
30 April 2019 (unlisted)

Exercise Price
$0.024
$0.030
$0.100

Number at end of year
2019
2018
50,000,000
60,847,327
7,000,000

(1)

Unlisted options issued as consideration for portion of advisory fees provided by Hartleys in carrying out
its April 2019 Placement.

(2)

Issued from the October 2018 Placement. None of these listed options were exercised and all of them
lapsed on 16 December 2019
Share options issued by the Company carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights. All options are
exercisable for cash on a 1:1 basis.
Movement in unlisted share options
Opening balance
Issued 3 June 2019 (subsequent to approval at 30 May 2019 AGM)
Exercised
Lapsed
Closing balance

Number at end of year
2019
2018
7,000,000
68,000,000
50,000,000
- (55,000,000)
(7,000,000)
(6,000,000)
50,000,000
7,000,000

Movement in listed share options
Opening balance
Issued 16 October 2018
Lapsed
Closing balance

Number at end of year
2019
2018
60,847,327
60,847,327
(60,847,327)
60,847,327
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18. Reserves

Balance 31 December 2017
Options issued to broker as success fee for share placement
Transfer to share capital on conversion of convertible note
Balance 31 December 2018
Reverse options relating to expired options
Options issued to broker as success fee for share placement
Performance rights expense (net of vested performance rights)
Balance 31 December 2019

Share
based
payment
reserve
$

Convertible
note
reserve
$

Total
$

191,938
63,558
255,496
(191,938)
236,382
9,890
309,830

1,465,699
(1,465,699)
-

1,657,637
63,558
(1,465,699)
255,496
(191,938)
236,382
9,890
309,830

Nature and purpose of share-based payment – option reserve
The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued under the employee
share option plan and options issued to broker as success fee for share placement.
19. Share-based payments
(a) Value of share based payments in the financial statements

2019
$

2018
$

Expensed:
Incentive based payment to CEO - shares
Payment for portion of broker’s advisory fees - shares
Incentive based payment to CEO – performance rights
Payment to supplier in connection with public relations assistance in
relation to 2018 Placement - options and shares
Recognised in statement of comprehensive income

25,000
56,250
36,602

-

117,852

36,370
36,370

Share based payments in capital raising costs:
Unlisted options
Recognised on statement of changes in equity

236,382
236,382

63,558
63,558

The Group provides benefits in the form of share-based payment transactions as follows:
Type
Shares

Holder(s)
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Shares to a broker
Performance rights
Options and shares to a supplier
Options to a broker

Broker
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)
Supplier
Broker

Services provided
Employment - incentive in lieu of
cash
Advisory fees
Employment
Public relations assistance
Success fee for share placement

(b) Accounting Policy: share-based payment transactions
Services are rendered in exchange for options and/or shares in the Company (equity-settled transactions).
The cost of equity-settled transactions is determined by the fair value at the date when the grant is made
using an appropriate valuation model. That cost is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in
other capital reserves in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled.
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(c) Summary of share-based payments
Incentive based payment to CEO
On 7 May 2019, the Company issued 2,083,334 shares to the CEO, fair valued at $0.012 each, as
compensation for achieving various KPIs.
Payment for portion of broker’s advisory fees
Following approval by shareholders at the May 2019 AGM, 5,113,636 fully paid ordinary shares were issued
to a broker as payment for a portion of the advisory fees in relation to the April 2019 Placement.
Incentive based payment to CEO – performance rights
Under an established Performance Rights Plan approved by shareholders at the 2018 AGM, on 24 May
2019 the CEO was issued 5,833,333 Performance Rights subject to various vesting conditions.
Options and Shares to a Supplier (2018)
1,818,500 shares and 902,250 free attaching listed options were issued as full consideration in lieu of the
payment of fees of $36,370 by the Company to a supplier in connection with public relations assistance
provided to the Company in carrying out its October 2018 placement.
Information of options issued to the supplier is as follows:
Balance at
start of
the year

Granted

Exercised

Expired/
other

Balance
at end of
the year

Grant date

Expiry date

Exercise
price

2019

16/10/2018

16/12/2019

$0.03

902,250

-

-

(902,250)

-

2018

16/10/2018

16/12/2019

$0.03

-

902,250

-

-

902,250

Options to a Broker (2019)
Following approval by shareholders at the May 2019 AGM, 50,000,000 unlisted options were issued to a
broker on 3 June 2019 as success fee for share placement:
Information of options issued to the broker is as follows:

2019

Grant
date

Expiry
date

Exercise
price

Balance at
start of the
year

Granted

3/6/2019

2/6/2021

$0.024

-

50,000,000

Exercised

Expired/
other

Balance at
end of the
year

-

-

50,000,000

These options were valued using the Black-Scholes Model with key inputs including volatility rate of 128%
and risk-free rate of interest at 1.19%.
Options to a Broker (2018)
6,500,000 listed options were issued to a broker as success fee in 2018 for share placement. All of the
options had lapsed as at 31 December 2019
Information of options issued to the supplier is as follows:
Balance at
start of the
year

Granted

Exercised

Expired/
other

Balance at
end of the
year

Grant date

Expiry date

Exercise
price

2019

16/10/2018

16/12/2019

$0.03

6,500,000

-

-

(6,500,000)

-

2018

16/10/2018

16/12/2019

$0.03

-

6,500,000

-

-

6,500,000

These options were valued using the Black-Scholes Model with key inputs including volatility rate of 114%
and risk-free rate of interest at 2.31%.
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Employee Share Option Plan
The Company established an employee share option plan (ESOP 2012) which was approved by
shareholders at the AGM on 24 May 2012. The purpose of the scheme was to give an additional
incentive to Directors, employees and consultants, to provide dedicated and on-going commitment and
effort to the Company. All of the options had lapsed as at 31 December 2019.
Information of options issued to the Company’s employees and consultants is as follows:

Grant date

Expiry
date

Exercise
price

Balance at
start of the
year

Exercised

Expired/
other

Balance at
end of the
year

Granted

2019

15/03/2013

30/04/2019

$0.10

4,000,000

-

-

(4,000,000)

-

2018

15/03/2013

30/04/2019

$0.10

5,000,000

-

-

(1,000,000)

4,000,000

Balance
at end of
the year

Information of options issued to the Company’s directors and CEO is as follows:
Exercise
price

Balance at
start of the
year

Grant date

Expiry
date

Granted

Exercised

Expired/
other

2019

31/05/2013

30/04/2019

$0.10

3,000,000

-

-

(3,000,000)

-

2018

31/05/2013

30/04/2019

$0.10

3,000,000

-

-

-

3,000,000

20. Accumulated losses

Accumulated losses at the beginning of the year
Adjustment for change in accounting policy (refer Note 1 (e))
Net loss for the year
Reverse options relating to expired options
Accumulated losses at the end of the year

2019
$

2018
$

(42,332,265)
(23,741)
(1,373,529)
191,938
(43,537,597)

(39,583,063)
(2,749,202)
(42,332,265)

21. Financial instruments
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash, short-term deposits, trade payables and
borrowings. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to fund the Group’s operations.
The Group does not use any form of derivatives as it is not at a level of exposure that requires the use of
derivatives to hedge its exposure. Exposure limits are reviewed by management on a continuous basis. The
Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for
speculative purposes.
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(a) Categories of financial instruments

2019
$

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial asset
Security and other deposits
Total financial assets

2018
$

2,487,120
61,677
526,442
14,632
3,089,871
2019
$

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Lease liabilities
Total financial liabilities

858,299
76,448
417,320
1,352,067
2018
$

753,891
1,590,929
87,630
2,432,450

1,498,507
1,532,429
3,030,936

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk
management framework which is summarised below:
(b) Capital risk management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. As an emerging explorer, the Group does not
establish a return on capital. Capital management requires the maintenance of a strong cash balance to
support ongoing exploration. There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management
during the year. The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
(c) Market risk
Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate risk arises on financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at the end of
reporting period whereby a future change in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair value of
fixed rate financial instruments. The Group is also exposed to earning volatility on floating rate instruments.
The Group does not have a formal policy in place to mitigate interest rate risks as the Group’s income and
operating cash flows are not materially exposed to changes in market interest rates.
At balance date, the Group had the following financial assets which are interest bearing:

Cash at bank
Cash on deposit

2019
$

2018
$

985,698
1,500,000
2,485,698

858,299
858,299

(d) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not complete its obligation under a financial instrument that will
result in a financial loss to the Group. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum
credit exposure.
The Group manages any credit risk associated with its funds on deposit by ensuring that it only invests its
funds with reputable financial institutions.
The Group manages any credit risk associated with its trade and other receivables by regular monitoring of
exposures against the credit limits and monitoring of the financial stability of significant customers and
counterparties.

Diatreme Resources Limited Annual Report 2019

49

P a g e | 47

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2019
(e) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves from funds raised in the market
and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:
Consolidated
31 Dec 2018
Trade and other
payables
Borrowings

Consolidated
31 Dec 2019
Trade and other
payables
Borrowings
Lease liabilities

Carrying
amount
$

Contractual
cash flow
$

1,498,507
1,532,429
3,030,936

<6
months
$

1,498,507
1,656,000
3,154,507

Carrying
amount
$

Contractual
cash flow
$

753,891
1,590,929
87,630
2,432,450

753,891
1,636,500
92,250
2,482,641

6-12
months
$

1,498,507
58,500
1,557,007

<6
months
$
753,891
117,000
30,750
901,641

39,000
39,000

6-12
months
$
1,519,500
30,750
1,550,250

1-3 years
$

>3
years
$

1,558,500
1,558,500

1-3 years
$

-

> 3 years
$

30,750
30,750

-

(f) Fair values
The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements
approximate their respective fair values, other than as noted below.
Non-current assets classified as held for sale have been valued at cost less allowance for impairment.
22. Interests in subsidiaries
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and all of its subsidiaries as of 31
December 2019. Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of
potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
a Group controls another entity. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.
All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including
unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intragroup asset sales are reversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a
group perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.
Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are
recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.
Set out below are details of the subsidiaries held directly by the Group:
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Name of subsidiary
Regional Exploration Management
Pty Ltd
Chalcophile Resources Pty Ltd *
Lost Sands Pty Ltd

Country of
Incorporation

Principal activity

Ownership
Interest
2019
2018

Australia

Logistical support

100%

100%

Australia
Australia

Metals exploration
Mineral sands
exploration

100%
100%

100%
100%

* This entity is 100% owned by Regional Exploration Management Pty Ltd.
23. Parent Entity Information

2019
$

Financial position
Current assets
Non-current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Shareholders’ equity
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity
Loss for the year
Total comprehensive loss for the year

2018
$

3,065,549
18,971,853
22,037,402

1,491,806
17,976,566
19,468,372

2,013,812
63,734
2,077,546

1,310,475
1,772,000
3,082,475

19,959,856

16,385,897

60,640,184
309,830
(40,990,158)
19,959,856

55,979,231
255,496
(39,848,830)
16,385,897

(1,353,569)
(1,353,569)

(2,718,248)
(2,718,248)

Non-Current Assets
Non-current assets include $14,340,661 (2018: $14,003,773) of intercompany receivables balances with
recoverability of the debt based on successful exploitation of various tenement sites.
Contingent Liabilities
The parent entity does not have any contingent liability.
Contractual commitments
The parent entity does not have any contractual commitments for property, plant and equipment at 31
December 2019.
Guarantees
The parent entity does not have any guarantees at 31 December 2019.
24. Commitments
(a) Tenement expenditure commitments
So as to maintain current rights to tenure of exploration tenements, the Group will be required to outlay
amounts in respect of tenement rent to the relevant governing authorities and to meet certain annual
exploration expenditure commitments. These outlays (exploration expenditure and rent), which arise in
relation to granted tenements, inclusive of tenement applications are as follows:
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2019
$
96,671
893,582
990,253

Payable within 1 year
Payable between one and five years

2018
$
731,783
1,420,951
2,152,734

The outlays may be varied from time to time, subject to approval of the relevant government departments,
and may be relieved if a tenement is relinquished. In 2019 cash security bonds totalling $1,267 were held by
the relevant governing authorities to ensure compliance with granted tenement conditions (2018: $403,955).
(b) Operating lease commitments
2019
$

Payable within 1 year
Payable between one and five years

-

2018
$
24,582
24,582

25. Contingent Liability
The Group does not have any contingent liability at 31 December 2019.
26. Financial reporting by segments
AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of
the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to
the segment and to assess its performance. The function of the chief operating decision maker is performed
by the Board collectively.
The Group currently operates in one business segment and one geographical segment, namely explorer for
heavy mineral sands, copper, and base metals in Australia. The revenues and results of this segment are
those of the Group as a whole and are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income.
27. Related parties
(a) Parent entity
The ultimate parent entity in the Group is Diatreme Resources Limited.
(b) Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 22.
(c) Key management personnel
Refer to the remuneration report contained in the directors’ report for details of the remuneration paid or
payable to each member of the Group’s key management personnel for the year ended 31 December
2019.

2019
$
597,875
56,798
28,996
61,602
745,271

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Long-term benefits
Share-based payments
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2018
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550,937
52,339
603,276
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2019
(d) Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:
Payment for specialist market and consultancy services from Fortune
Corporation Australia Pty Limited (director-related entity of William Wang).

28. Remuneration of auditors

William Buck (Qld)
Audit and review of the financial statements

2019
$

2018
$

92,750

131,374

2019
$

2018
$

20,000

20,000

The auditors did not provide any other services.
29. Events subsequent to balance date
In February 2020, 181,714,365 Placement Options and 25,000,000 Rebate Shares were issued for no
consideration to shareholders who participated in the November 2019 placement.
On 27 March 2020, the Company announced an agreement had been executed to extend the maturity date
of the $1,500,000 debt facility from 31 July 2020 to 31 November 2021 (Refer to ASX announcement 27
March 2020).
30. New accounting standards and interpretations
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, certain Standards and Interpretations were on issue but
not yet effective. These Standards and Interpretations have not been adopted in the preparation of the
financial report for the year ended 31 December 2019. None of these Standards and Interpretations are
expected to have significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
The Group expects to first apply these Standards and Interpretations in the financial report of the Group
relating to the annual reporting period beginning after the effective date of each pronouncement.
31. Corporate information
Diatreme Resources Limited is a public company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (trading
under the code DRX) and is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The address of the Company’s
registered office and principal place of business is Unit 8, 61 Holdsworth Street, Coorparoo QLD 4151.
The Company’s most recent Corporate Governance Statement is available at:
www.diatreme.com.au/company/corporate-governance
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Directors’ Declaration

for the year ended 31 December 2019
In the directors' opinion:
•

the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the
Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting
requirements;

•

the attached financial statements and notes thereto comply with International Financial Reporting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 1(a) to the
financial statements;

•

the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's
financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that
date; and

•

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they become due and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations
Act 2001.
On behalf of the directors

Gregory B. Starr
Non-Executive Chairman
Brisbane, 27 March 2020
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Diatreme Resources Limited

Independent auditor’s report to the members
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Diatreme Resources Limited (the Company and its subsidiaries (the
Group)), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information, and the directors’ declaration.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the Corporations Act
2001, including:
(i)

giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of its
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)

complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to
our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given
to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this
auditor’s report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

ACCOUNTANTS & ADVISORS
Level 21, 307 Queen Street
Brisbane QLD 4000
GPO Box 563
Brisbane QLD 4001
Telephone: +61 7 3229 5100
Williambuck.com

William Buck is an association of firms, each trading under the name of William Buck across Australia and
New Zealand with affiliated offices worldwide. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional
Standards Legislation other than for acts or omissions of financial services licensees.
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
We draw attention to Note 1(f) in the financial report, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss after
tax of $1,373,529 during the year ended 31 December 2019 and had net cash outflows from operations of
$1,363,373. As stated in Note 1(f), these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note
1(f), indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
CARRYING VALUE OF EXPLORATION COSTS
Area of focus
Refer also to note 11
Capitalised exploration and evaluation assets represent
84% of the Group’s total assets. The carrying value of
exploration and evaluation assets is impacted by the
Group’s ability, and intention, to continue to explore and
evaluate these assets. The results of these activities
then determine the extent to which it may or may not be
commercially viable to develop and extract identified
reserves.
Due to the significance of this asset and the subjectivity
involved in determining its carrying value and
recoverable amount, this is a key audit matter.

How our audit addressed it
Our audit procedures included:
— A review of the directors’ assessment of
the criteria for the capitalisation of
exploration and evaluation expenditure
and their assessment of whether there
are any indicators of impairment to
capitalised costs;
— Considering the Group’s intention and
ability to continue activities necessary
to support a decision to develop the
exploration and evaluation assets,
which included an assessment of the
Group’s ability to fund such activities
and a review of their future budgets;
— Performing an assessment of whether
any indicators of impairment existed in
line with requirements of Australian
Accounting Standards, including a
review of the integrity of tenement title
status and total commitments value;
and
— We assessed the adequacy of the
Group’s disclosures in respect of the
carrying value of exploration costs.
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Other Information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in
the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2019, but does not include the financial report
and the auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that
gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of this financial report.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of these financial statements is located at the
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at:
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf
This description forms part of our independent auditor’s report.

Report on the Remuneration Report
Opinion on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 6 to 10 of the directors’ report for the year
ended 31 December 2019.
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Diatreme Resources Limited, for the year ended 31 December
2019, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.
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Responsibilities
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration
Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing
Standards.

William Buck (Qld)
ABN 21 559 713 106

Junaide Latif
Director
Brisbane, 27 March 2020
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Shareholder Information
The information set out below was applicable at 20 April 2020.
A

DISTRIBUTION OF ASX QUOTED EQUITY SECURITIES

Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding:
Ordinary Shares
Range
1 to 1,000
1,001 to 5,000
5001 to 10,000
10,001 to 100,000
100,001 and Over
Total

Holders
696
262
189
660
696
2,503

%
27.81
10.46
7.55
26.37
27.81
100.00

Shares
153,730
719,178
1,597,349
30,407,290
1,822,573,799
1,855,451,346

%
0.01
0.04
0.08
1.64
98.23
100.00

The number of security investors holding less than a marketable parcel on 20 April 2019 was 1,620
and they held 16,487,982 securities.
B

VOTING RIGHTS

The voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are set out below:
Ordinary Shares
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote
and upon a poll each share shall have one vote.
Options
No voting rights.
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C

ASX QUOTED EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS

The names of the twenty largest holders of ordinary shares (ASX:DRX) are listed below:
Rank
1
2
3
4
5
6

ILWELLA PTY LTD
MR YUFENG ZHUANG
MS JIE WU
MR ZHENBIN JIAN
VW PTY LTD
CHENXIA ZHOU
HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES
(AUSTRALIA) LIMITED
MISS RUJING ZHUANG
HONGMING ZHANG
BORNEO MINERALS PTY LTD
MS LAI YOU
ZHIXIN LI
99WHM PTY LTD
DORAL LTD
MR STEPHEN JOHN RYAN
MR ZHANGXI ZENG
MS LAI YOU
CAIFENG ZENG
XIANG RONG (AUSTRALIA)
CONSTRUCTION GROUP PTY LTD
C N & W J POINTON PTY LTD
CHUNYI WANG
YUAN WANG

7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
17
18
19
20
20

D

Number of
ordinary
shares held
275,000,000
151,841,819
87,171,308
82,000,000
71,000,001
62,500,000

Name

Percent
(%)
14.82
8.18
4.70
4.42
3.83
3.37

45,063,744

2.43

41,666,667
40,000,000
39,700,236
36,511,080
30,500,000
25,000,000
23,500,000
21,887,481
20,164,214
16,666,667
16,666,667

2.25
2.16
2.14
1.97
1.64
1.35
1.27
1.18
1.09
0.90
0.90

14,862,763

0.80

13,000,000
12,500,000
12,500,000
1,139,702,647
715,748,699
1,855,451,346

0.70
0.67
0.67
61.42
38.58
100.00

SUBSTANTIAL HOLDERS

Substantial holders of ordinary shares in the Company are set out below:
Number of
ordinary
shares held
275,000,000
151,841,819

Name
ILWELLA PTY LTD
MR YUFENG ZHUANG
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Tenement Schedule
Current interests in tenements held by Diatreme Resources Limited and its subsidiary companies as at 20
April 2020 are tabled below.
State

Project

Tenement Name

Tenement ID

Area

Holder

Interest

WA
WA
QLD
QLD

Cyclone
Cyclone
Cape Bedford
Clermont

Cyclone
Cyclone Extended
Cape Bedford
Clermont

M69/141
R69/1
EPM17795
EPM17968

1,558 ha
1,227 ha
552 km2
252 km2

100%
100%
100%
100%

LSPL
DRX
DRX
CHAL

Abbreviations:
M
Western Australia
R
Western Australia
EPM
Queensland
ML
Queensland

Mining Lease
Retention Licence
Exploration Permit for Minerals
Mining Lease
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Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources Statement
Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources are estimated using all available geological and relevant drill hole and
assay data, including mineralogical sampling and analysis and test work on mineral recoveries and final
product qualities. Reserve estimates are determined by the consideration of all “modifying factors” in
accordance with the JORC Code, including but not limited to, product prices, mining costs, metallurgical
recoveries, environmental constraints, access and approvals. Resource estimates are determined by
consideration of geology, HM cut-off grades, mineralisation thickness, overburden ratios and consideration
of the potential mining and extraction methodology.
The information in relation to the Cyclone Project Ore Reserve was prepared and disclosed under the
JORC Code 2012, and reported in an announcement to the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) on 15
June 2016 “Cyclone Study Reaffirms Project Profitability”. The Cyclone Ore Reserve estimate is based on
the Mineral Resource that was separately reported in an announcement to the Australian Securities
Exchange (ASX) on 27 April 2017 “Exploration Activities Report Quarter Ended 31 March 2017” and was
prepared in accordance with the guidelines of the 2012 JORC Code.
The information in relation to the Galalar Project Mineral Resource estimate was reported in an
announcement to the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) on 14 May 2019 “Galalar Silica Project further
expands with maiden Indicated Resource”. The Resource estimate was prepared in accordance with the
guidelines of the 2012 JORC Code.
The information in this report relating to Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves is based on information
compiled by Competent Persons as defined in the JORC Code. Each Competent Person has sufficient
experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration, and to the activity
they were undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined by the JORC Code.
Mr P McMurtrie MAusIMM is a director of Tisana Pty Ltd and a consultant to Diatreme Resources, Mr I
Reudavey MAIG was a full-time employee of Diatreme Resources Limited, and Mr Brice Mutton FAusIMM
FAIG is a director of Brice Mutton & Associates Pty Ltd. Mr McMurtrie, Mr Reudavey and Mr Mutton consent
to the inclusion in this report of this information in the form and context in which it appears.
The Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve figures reported represent estimates at 31 December 2019. All
tonnes and grade information has been rounded and small differences may be present in the totals. All of
the Mineral Resource information is inclusive of Ore Reserves. Mineral Resources are not additional to Ore
Reserves.
Diatreme HM Ore Reserves at 31 December 2019

HM Assemblage

Project

Ore
Reserve
Category

Ore
Tonnes
Millions

In-situ HM
Tonnes
Millions

HM
Grade
(%)

Zircon
Grade
(%)

Rutile
Grade
(%)

Leuco
Grade
(%)

HiTi
Grade
(%)

Alt Ilm
Grade
(%)

Si-TiOx
Grade
(%)

Cyclone

Probable

138

3.52

2.6

28

3

7

23

13

22

Notes:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Cyclone Project is located in the Eucla Basin, Western Australia
Competent Person - Ore Reserves, P McMurtrie MAusIMM
Ore Reserves are a sub-set of Mineral Resources.
Mineral assemblage is reported as a percentage of in situ heavy mineral (HM) content.
Rutile comprises Ti-Oxides >95% TiO2, Leuco (Leucoxene) comprises Ti-oxides 85 - 95% TiO2,
HiTi comprises Ti-oxides 70 - 85% TiO2, Alt Ilm (Altered Ilmenite) comprises Ti-oxides <70% TiO2,
Si-TiOx (Siliceous Ti-oxide) comprises Ti-oxides with >10% silica rich Ti minerals.

Diatreme HM Ore Reserves comparison 2018 to 2019
Project

Ore
Reserve
Category

Cyclone

Probable

2018
Ore
Tonnes
Millions
138

2018
HM
Grade
(%)
2.6
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2018
In-situ HM
Tonnes
Millions
3.52

62

2019
Ore
Tonnes
Millions
138

2019
HM
Grade
(%)
2.6

2019
In-situ HM
Tonnes
Millions
3.52
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In-situ HM
Tonnes
Millions
Change
0.00

The annual review of Ore Reserves concluded that in the absence of new exploration data or additional
feasibility evaluation during 2019, the Cyclone Ore Reserve remains unchanged.
Diatreme HM Mineral Resources at 31 December 2019
Project
Cyclone

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Mineral
Resource
Category
Measured
Indicated
Total

Material
Tonnes
Millions
156
48
203

In-situ HM
Tonnes
Millions
3.81
0.89
4.70

HM
Grade
(%)
2.4
1.9
2.3

HM Assemblage
Zircon Rutile
Grade Grade
(%)
(%)
28
3
21
2
27
3

Leuco
Grade
(%)
6
5
6

HiTi
Grade
(%)
24
33
26

Alt Ilm
Grade
(%)
12
16
13

Si TiOx
Grade
(%)
22
18
21

Cyclone Project is located in the Eucla Basin, Western Australia
Competent Person - Mineral Resources, I Reudavey MAIG
Mineral Resources are inclusive of Ore Reserves.
Rounding may generate small differences in totals.
Mineral assemblage is reported as a percentage of in situ heavy mineral content.
Rutile comprises Ti-oxides >95% TiO2, Leuco (Leucoxene) comprises Ti-oxides 85 - 90% TiO2, HiTi
comprises Ti-oxides 70 - 85% TiO2, Alt Ilm (Altered Ilmenite) comprises Ti-oxides <70% TiO2, Si
TiOx (Siliceous Ti-oxide) comprises Ti-oxides with >10% silica rich Ti minerals.

The information in relation to the Cyclone Mineral Resource is reported in compliance with the 2012 JORC
Code, and the most recent update of Mineral Resources was announced to the Australian Securities
Exchange (ASX) on 27 April 2017 “Exploration Activities Report Quarter Ended 31 March 2017”.
Diatreme HM Mineral Resource comparison 2018 to 2019
Project
Cyclone

Mineral
Resource
Category
Measured
Indicated
Total

2018
Material
Tonnes
Millions
156
48
203

2018
HM
Grade
(%)
2.4
1.9
2.3

2018
In-situ HM
Tonnes
Millions
3.81
0.89
4.70

2019
Material
Tonnes
Millions
156
48
203

2019
HM
Grade
(%)
2.4
1.9
2.3

2019
In-situ HM
Tonnes
Millions
3.81
0.89
4.70

In-situ HM
Tonnes
Millions
Change
0.00
0.00
0.00

The annual review of Mineral Resources concluded that in the absence of new exploration data or
additional feasibility evaluation during 2019, the Cyclone Mineral Resource remaines unchanged.
Diatreme Gold Mineral Resources at 31 December 2019
Project
Tick Hill Tailings

Mineral
Resource
Category

Material
Tonnes
‘000 t

Gold
Grade
(g/t)

In-situ Gold
Troy
Ounces

Indicated
Total

0
0

-

0
0

1. Tick Hill Project is located in the Mt Isa province, Queensland
2. Competent Person - Mineral Resources, I Reudavey MAIG
3. Mineral Resource relates to tailings material within a capped tailings storage facility.
The Tick Hill Gold Project was sold to Berkut Minerals Limited and was reported in an announcement to the
Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) on 24 April 2019 “Tick Hill sale to Berkut completed”.
Diatreme Gold Mineral Resource comparison 2018 to 2019
Project
Tick Hill

Mineral
Resource
Category
Indicated
Total

2018
Material
Tonnes
‘000 t
630
630

2018
Gold
Grade
(g/t)
1.08
1.08

2018
In-situ
Gold
T Oz’s
21,800
21,800

2019
Material
Tonnes
‘000 t
0
0

2019
Gold
Grade
(g/t)
-

2019
In-situ
Gold
T Oz’s
0
0

In-situ
Gold
T Oz’s
Change
-21,800
-21,800

The annual review of Mineral Resources has reduced Gold Mineral Resources to nil, a reduction of 21,800
ounces, following the sale of the Tick Hill Gold Project to Berkut Minerals Limited during April 2019.
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Diatreme Silica Sand Mineral Resources at 31 December 2019
Project
Galalar

Mineral Resource
Category
Indicated
Inferred
Total

Material Tonnes
Millions
21.5
8.7
30.2

Silica Grade
(SiO2%)
>99
>99
>99

1. The “Nob Point Prospect” was renamed the “Galalar Project” (ASX Announcement 5 December
2018)
2. Galalar Project is located 20km east of Hope Vale, Queensland
3. Competent Person - Mineral Resources, B Mutton FAIG FAusIMM
4. Mineral Resource is the quantity of sand with a silica grade exceeding 99% SiO2.
The information in relation to the Nob Point Mineral Resource was prepared and disclosed under the JORC
Code 2012 and reported in an announcement to the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) on 14 May 2019
“Galalar Silica Project further expands with maiden Indicated Resource”.
Diatreme Silica Sand Mineral Resource comparison 2018 to 2019
Project
Galalar

Mineral Resource
Category
Indicated
Inferred
Total

2018
Material Tonnes
Millions
0
21.6
21.6

2018
Silica
Grade
(SiO2%)
>99
>99

2019
Material
Tonnes
Millions
21.5
8.7
30.2

2019
Silica
Grade
(SiO2%)

In-situ
Silica Sand
Million tonnes
Change

99.3
99.3
99.3

+21.5
-12.9
+8.6

The announcement of the maiden Mineral Indicated Resource for the Nob Point Prospect on 14 May 2019
resulted in an increase to the Indicated Resource of 21.5 million tonnes and a decrease to the Inferred
Resource of 12.9 million tonnes. The total Mineral Resource was increased by 8.6 million tonnes.
Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve Governance
Mineral Resource and Ore Reserves are estimated by suitably qualified Diatreme personnel or consultants
in accordance with the requirements of the JORC Code, using industry standard techniques and internal
guidelines for the estimation and reporting of Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources.
All Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve estimates and supporting documentation are reviewed by a
Competent Person employed or engaged by Diatreme Resources. All Ore Reserve estimates are prepared
in conjunction with feasibility studies which consider all material factors.
The Ore Reserves and Mineral Resources Statement included in the Annual Report is reviewed by a
suitably qualified Competent Person.
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